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I. INTRODUCTION AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On May 20, 2013, Plaintiffs C.D. (i.e., the student), the student’s father R.D. ("Mr. D."),
and the student’s mother C.D. (“Mrs. D”) (collectively “Plaintiffs”) filed a Due Process Hearing
Request (“Complaint”) contending that County School District (“District™) violated
their rights under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (“IDEA”)' and
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. §§ 701 er seq. (“Section 504”).
Specifically, the Plaintiffs allege that the District failed to identify C.D. as a “child with a
disability” in violation of the IDEA, failed to evaluate C.D. in violation of the IDEA and Section
504, failed to provide C.D. with a Free and Appropriate Public Education (“FAPE”} in violation

of the IDEA, failed to provide Plaintiffs’ with their procedural rights in violation of the IDEA

! In 2004, the act was reauthorized and renamed as the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of
2004, 108 P.L. 446. For the sake of simplicity, the undersigned will continue to refer to the act at the Individuals
with Disabilities Education Act (i.e., IDEA).
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and Section 504, and discriminated against C.D. in violation of Section 504. See Complaint, pp.
20-257

Based on their claims, Plaintiffs demanded a comprehensive evaluation in all arcas of
suspected disability and assistive technology, compensatory education to address C.D.’s
disability, grade recovery, recovery of C.D.’s magnet seal and ability to graduate from the
magnet program, tutors and suppot 10 recovet C.D.’s grades, intensive remediation in executive
function abilities, and an organization support program and instructor/coach during his time at
college. See Complaint at p. 22.

Prior to the hearing the District raised the defense of statute of limitations. Because a
ruling limiting on the statute of limitations would significantly change the presentation of
evidence and, most likely, the length of the hearing, the hearing was bifurcated. A hearing on
the statute of limitations issue was conducted on July 26, 2013. The undersigned issued a
Memorandum Opinion and Order on Statute of Limitations on September 9, 2013, limiting
Plaintiffs claims to those alleging violations that occurred within the two years preceding their
complaint. The substantive hearing was conducted on September 18, 19, 20, 23, 24, 25, 26, aﬁd

October 9, 2013.

? The undersigned notes, generally, Plaintiffs® claims under Section 504, but will not make a determination as to
whether Section 504 has been violated. For purposes of exhausting administrative remedies, plaintiffs are required
to pursue IDEA claims through the administrative process, before filing claims under Section 504, the ADA, or
Section 1983 if IDEA may provide relief for the same allegations that form the basis of the non-IDEA claims.
Atlanta Indep. Sch. Sys. v. §.F., No. 1:09-CV-2166-RWS, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 141552, at *17-21 (N.D. Ga. Feb.
22, 2010) (finding that for purposes of exhaustion, plaintiffs need not invoke the non-IDEA statutes in their
administrative complaint, nor must the administrative law judge conducting the IDEA hearing determine whether
the allegations amount to & violation of the non-IDEA statutes). While it appears that the District may request that
the ALJ conducting the hearing pursuant to IDEA consolidate a hearing request under Section 504 claims, there is
nothing mandating such consolidation. Ga. Comp. R. & Regs. 160-1-3-.07. In this matter, the undersigned ALJ
declined such an invitation from the District.

3 The record was held open until November 4, 2013, to allow the parties to submit their Proposed Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law.
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II. FINDINGS OF FACT

A. C.D.'s Education Prior to High School®,

1.
C.D. attended _ Elementary School from kindergarten to fifth grade. (T., Vol.
IV at 816). C.D. was in the gifted program at Elementary School. (T., Vol. II at
391).
2.

During his third grade year, C.D. was diagnosed with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity
Disorder (FADHD”). (P-1 Bates 0021). During that year, C.D. earned satisfactory, good, or
excellent progress in all subjects. (P-9 Bates 1088). In fourth grade, C.D. earned As in every
subject. (P-9 Bates 1089). In fifth grade, C.D. earned As in every subject. (P-9 Bates 1090).

3.

Ms. Debbie Sherwin (“Ms. Sherwin”) testified as C.D.’s fifth grade science teacher. (T,
Vol. I at 385). Ms. Sherwin described C.D. as “a bright young man.” (T., Vol. Il at 386).
Though Ms. Sherwin stated that C.D. had trouble staying focused, turning in assignments, and
getting started on work, she, ultimately, described him.as “an average kid.” (T., Vol. II at 388
and 391).

4.

Ms. Sherwin did not think that C.D. needed special education services because he was
performing well in class. (T., Vol. II at 391). Ms. Sherwin was shocked to learn that C.D. did
not graduate from high school. (T., Vol. 1l at 389).

5.

4 As the statute of limitations in this case limits the claims to two years, the information regarding kindergarten
through tenth grade is provided as background information.
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C.D. attended Middle Schoo! from sixth to eighth grade’. C.D. was in

“sccelerated curriculum” classes in middle school. (T., Vol. IV at 820).
6.

In sixth grade, C.D. exceeded expectations on the CRCT in all subjects: science, social
studies, reading, English/language atts, and math. (D-7 Bates 00130-00133). Furthermore, he
earned all As and Bs in sixth grade. (D-7 Bates 00145). Additionally, his teachers commented
that C.D. was “[a] nice young man [who was a] pleasure in class” and that he “worke[d] well in
groups.” (D-12 Bates 000384). |

7.

Tn seventh grade, C.D. exceeded expectations on the CRCT in all subjects; science, social
studies, reading, English/language arts, and math. (D-7 Bates 00134-00136). Furthermore, he
earned all As and Bs with the exception of one C in seventh grade. (D-7 Bates 00144).

8.

Mr. Michael Trving (“Mr. Irving”) was C.D.’s seventh grade social science teacher., (T.,
~ Vol. Il at 418). Mr. Irving described C.D. as “very cognitively capable” and “very bright.” (T.
Vol. Il at 418). Though Mr. Irving observed C.D. have organizational challenges, Mr. lrving
opined that it was no more of a challenge than many of the other students that he teaches. (T,
Vol. 11 at 418). Mr. Irving testified that organization is a struggle for most teenage boys. (T,
Vol. Il at 427).

9.

In eighth grade, C.D. exceeded expectations on the CRCT in all subjects: science, social

studies, reading, English/language arts, and math. (D-7 Bates 00139-00141). Furthermore, he

earned all As and Bs with the exception of one C in eighth grade. (D-7 Bates 000143).

5 Plaintiffs never requested an IEP or special education services while at Palmer Middle School. (T., Vol. I at 53) '
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10.

Ms. Dora Brown (“Ms. Brown™) was C.D.’s eighth grade math teacher. (T., Vol. I at
401-02). Though Ms. Brown observed C.D. have difficulty initiating tasks and completing work,
it was an observation she makes of lots of eighth grade students. (T, Vol. If at 412). Notably,
C.D. carned high schoo! credit for a math c]ass based on his success in the class during middle
schbol. (T., Vol. Il at 410). Ms. Brown testified that C.D. has the “cognitive endowment” to
graduate high school. (T., Vol. Il at 409).

11.

C.D. won numerous awards for academic achievement in middle school. (D-24 through
D-33%). In sixth grade, C.D. won an award for Principal’s Honor Roll. (T., Vol. I at 178). In
seventh grade, C.D. won an award for Principal’s Honor Roll. (T., Vol. T at 177). In eighth
grade, C.D. won three awards: the President’s Education Award for making good grades, Honor
Roll, and an award for math team. (T., Vol. Lat 169-171).7

12.

Tn fifth grade, the District organized a Student Suppoit Team (“SST”) meeting regarding
C.D. on April 11, 2006. (T., Vol. IV at 824; D-12 Bat_es 000376-000389). Plaintiffs did not
attend that meeting. (T., Vol. IV at 824). In that meeting, C.D.’s strengths were described as
“extremely intelligent, advanced vocabulary, language skills, polite.” (T., Vol. IV at 829; D-12
Bates 000376-000389). C.D.’s weaknesses were described as “organizational skills, focusing,

attention, remaining on task.” (Id.).

5 Documents produced by Plaintiffs in the trash bag, pursuant to subpoena, were not bates labeled. {T,Vol.lai
168) '

7 C.D.’s Parents claim that the successful grades in elementary school and middle school were the result of parental
support at home. (T., Vol. 1V at 854)
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13,

In sixth grade, the District advised closing the SST file on November 20, 2006; howevet,
the Plaintiffs disagreed. (T., Vol. IV at 835).

14,

Ms. Lori Kotarba was a school counselor at Elementary at the time C.D.
attended. (T. Vol. IX at 2194-96). Dwring her testimony, she clarified what she meant by a note
that she wrote in C.D.’s SST folder. Specifically, Ms. Kotarba had writien that “team-taught
classes would be good.” (T., Vol. IX at 2196-2199; D-12 Bates 000385). Ms. Kotarba explained
that “team-taught” simply meant placing C.D. in a general education setting in which there might
be additional adult supervision. The note did not indicate a need for special education. (T. Vol.
IX at 2196-2199). Nor did Ms. Kotarba consider that C.D. needed special education. (/d. at
2198).

B. C.D. Applied to and Was Accepted to High School’s Magnet Program.
I5.

C.D. applied to the High School Magnet Program during his eighth grade
year. (D-9 Bates 000157-61). In his application, C.D. states that he was worried about the
Magnet Program being “all work and no play.” (Id.). C.D. then stated that (based on visiting

High School, he was assured that the large quantities of work would at least be
interesting, (Id.).
16.

C.D. further stated that he enjoyed reading calculus and physics texts while in middle

school. (Id). C.D. was excited about the challenging curriculum of Magnet

Program, which would be much more rigorous than his accelerated middle school classes. (/d.).
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17.

The High School Magnet Program is a school within a school at
High School, where students are selectively admitted based on math and science academic
requirements. (T., Vol. Il at 480). Students must maintain a “B” average to remain in the Magnet
Program. (T., Vol. II at 481). Students admitted to the program must exhibit and maintain
“superiot academic abilities.” (T., Vol. Il at 481). Notably, students in the Magnet Progran must
display more independent learning than on-level (i.e., general curriculum) students because the
curriculum is designed for high achieving students. (T., Vol. II at 486).

18.

On the other hand, the End of Course Test (EOCT) measures a student’s mastery of
content at an on-level 1'igor;8 therefore, a student’s final grade on the EOCT may not correlate
with the student’s final grade in a more rigorous honors, magnet, or AP class. (T, Vol Il at 506;
509). As far as difficulty of classes, on-level is the least challenging, honors is more challenging
than on-level, magnet is more challenging than honors, and advanced placement (“AP”) is the
most challenging level of class. (T, Vol. IV at 873). Though the Magnet Program is more
rigorous, students with disabilities and TEPs are admitted into the program. (T., Vol. Il at 520-
21).

1. C.D.’s Freshman Year in the Magnet Program.

19.

C.D. began his freshman year in the Magnet Program at High School, in the

2009-2010 school year. (D-103 Bates 002874). The transition from middle school to high

school is often challenging for many students because they are expected to take more

% In other words, EOCTs assess students’ mastery of the general education curriculum, which is based on the
Georgia Performance Standards. (T. Vol. VIat 1574-1575).
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responsibility for their own learning, the classes become more rigorous, the block schedule
accelerates the pace of learning, students have more independent work to complete, and students
are responsible for monitoring their own progress through the District’s on-line resources. (T,
Vol. II at 498-99).
20.
- C.D.’s grades as a freshman were as follows:
Earned High School Credit in Middle School Classes

e Acc. Math MS: P
e Spanish I MS: p

Fall Semester

o [ 9th Lit/Comp: 81 (EOCT score 94)
e Magnet Biology: 83 (EOCT score 93)
e Spanish II 80
o Fundamentals

Engineering and

Technology: 82

Spring Semester

e Magnet Acc. Math 2: 83 (EOCT score 94)
o Magnet Chemistry: 80

e H Spanish I1I: 72
¢ TFoundations of
Electronics: 93

(D-103 Bates 002784). C.D. was only absent three days his fieshman year. (Id.).
21.
C.D.’s freshman math teacher, Ms. Rachel Buhler (“Ms. Buhler”), taught C.D. in the
Magnet Accelerated Math 2 class. (T., Vol. T at 90, 94; D-103 Bates 002784). Ms. Buhler

described C.D. as “a bright young man.” (T. Vol. I at 104). Though C.D. was failing freshman
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math at some point during the semester, Ms. Buhler had other students with similar grades. (T.,
Vol. I at 104). Ultimately, C.D.’s ﬁnal grade in the class and his EOCT score indicate thét C.D.
learned the math curriculum taught in this class. (T, Vol. I at 104).

22.

Mir. Al George (“Mr. George™) taught C.D. Foundations of Electronics during the second
semester of his freshman year. (T., Vol. IV at 1467). Mr. George also taught C.D. AC/DC
during his first semester sophomore year, Digital Electronics during his second semester
sophomore year, Networking Concepts and Networking Systems during his first semester junior
year, and Fundamentals of Telecommunication during his second semester junior year’. (T,
Vol. TV at 1467).

23.

In addition to teaching C.D. in engineering classes, C.DD. did some work for Mr. George’s
company, Pedals by George, which makes custom guitar pedals. (T, Vol. IV at 1467). Mr.
George also knew C.D. through the Robotics Club. (T., Vol. IV at 1468).'°

24.

In Foundations of Electronics, C.D. learned the concepts of direct cuirent, alternating
current, analog, semiconductors, transistors, integrated circuits, digital, numbering systems,
binary, and hexadecimal. (T., Vol. IV at 1474). In learning this material, Mr. George described

C.D. as “better than most, but he wasn’t as good as some.” (T., Vol. IV at 1474).

9 Mr. George’s electronics students have gone on to work for the NSA and NASA regarding satellites and
engineering. (T., Vol. VI at 1492-93)

19 Assuming Mr. George spent 90 minutes a day for 90 days in each one of the classes that C.D. was in, Mr. George
would have spent approximately 810 hours instructing C.D. (T., Vol. IV at 1468). In addition to the 810 hours of
instruction, Mr. George spent time with C.D. in the robotics ¢lub and working on projects for Pedals by George. (T.,
Vol. TV at 1467-68). Thus, Mr. George, individually, has likely spent over 1,000 hours with C.D. (T., Vol. IV at
L481}.
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25.

Mr. George described an at-home project C.D. cémpleted on the scientist Nikola Tesla,
which consisted of a 650 word-essay, pictures of Tesla, pictures of Tesla’s inventions, and
documents which depicted Tesla’s biography. (T., Vol. IV at 1469-70). C.D. liked learning
about Tesla and had no problem turning in that assignment. (T., Vol. IV at 1470).

26.

In the Foundations of Electronics class, Mr. George also graded C.D. based on his
notebook and daily participation, which is based on keeping daily notes and following class
rules. (T., Vol. IV at 1471). C.D. was expected to bring a notebook, one-inch three ring binder,
pencil, and pens, and a calculator to each class, and Mr. George never had to take points off for
C.D. forgetting his materials. (T., Vol. IV at 1473). Finally, C.D. earned grades for completing
quizzes and tests through the NIDA'" program. (T., Vol. IV at 1471). Based on these
assignments, C.D. earned an overall grade of 93. (T., Vol. IV at 1472; D-103 Bates 002784).

27.

As a freshman, Mr. George taught C.D. to solder, which is a process of melting a metal
alloy to combine two circuits. (T., Vol. IV at 1478-79). Soldering would be very dangerous fora
student that did not have the ability to focus. (T., Vol. IV at 1479). C.D. was so good at
soldering Mr. George hired C.D. to work for him with Pedals by George. (T., Vol. 1V at 1479).
C.D. soldered almost a hundred guitar pedals for Pedals by George with each one working

perfectly. (/d.).

I NIDA is a state-wide engineering curriculum, created by Mr. George, and based on his military experience,
through which students use a hands-on computer program to learn engineering through a self-paced, sequenced
curriculum. (T., Vol. IV at 1464-66)
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28.

Mr. George opined that C.D. was able to learn in this class because he maintained his
notebook, successfully completed assignments, and was skilledr at soldering. (T., Vol. IV at 1470,
1471, and 1479).

29.

C.D.’s counselor during his freshman and sophomore year was M.s. Gale Suttles (“Ms.
Suttles™). (T., Vol. I at 46). On November 16, 2009, Ms. Suttles organized a parent-teacher
conference to determine how C.D. was transitioning into high school. (T., Vol, T at 52-54). In
that meeting, C.D.’s parents requested a 504 Plan. (T. Vol. I at 47). During the meeting, Ms.
Suttles offered C.D. morning organizational sessions. (T., Vol. L at 57; D-1 Bates 000006'%). In
these organizational sessions, Ms. Suttles would meet weekly with students on an individual
basis to help organize notebooks, track assignments, and generally assist students with being
organized. (T., Vol. T at 59-60). Plaintiffs declined these organizational sessions because they
thought C.D. would be “singled out” and “uncomfortable.” (T., Vol. I at 60) According to
Mrs. D, C.D. was embarrassed to ask for help. This embarrassment stopped C.I. from attending
these organizational sessions, even though Plaintiffs assert that C.D. needed organizational
support as a freshman. (T., Vol. TV at [026-1027). |

30.
As of February 8, 2010, C.D. qualified for a 504 Plan, which included the following

accommodations:

2 The reference to D-1, Bates 000006 is a reference to Defendant’s Exhibit | tendered during the hearing on the
issue of statute of limitations.

B Mrs. D later testified that C.D. would not remember to go to these sessions and that similar organizational help
was not successful in the past. (T., Vol. T at 146). However, Plaintiffs presented no testimony that C.D. actually
went to or attempted to go to Ms. Suttles’ organizational sessions. In fact, Mrs. D testified that C.D. did not have
problems attending his regular classes. {T., Vol. IV at 1049). In other words, when a class was not optional and
C.D. knew he would get in trouble for missing the class, he would not skip classes. (Jd.)
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s Extended Time (100%) for tests, quizzes, and standardized tests;
o Scheduled Math as early in the day as possible; and
¢ Scheduled for the smallest classes available.

(D-11 Bates 000299). C.D.’s Parents participated in the development of this plan. (T, Vol. [ at
55: D-11 Bates 000300). No testimony or documentation presented in this hgaring showed that
this 504 Plan was in any way inadequate. To the contrary, as a freshman, C.D. passed every
class and earned an “A” on every EOCT. (D-103 Bates 002784). |

2. C.D.’s Sophomore Year in the Magnet Program.

31.

C.D.’s grades as a sophomore were as follows:
Fall Semester

» H British Lit: 82
e Magnet Physics: 80
¢ Intr. Engineeting

Drawing: 83
o Adv. AC/DC
Circuits: 94

Spring Semester

e Magnet Acc. Math 3: 75
e AP Physics B: 83
¢ H World History: 90
s Digital Electronics: 95

{(D-103 Bates 002784). C.D. was only absent [ day his sophomore year.
32.
M. George taught C.D. for Advanced AC/DC Circuits in the fall semester of C.D.’s
sophomore year. (T., Vol. IV at 1475; D-103 Bates 002784). This class was more challenging

than the freshman class because it required more math skills. (T., Vol. IV at 1475).

Page 12 of 89




33.

In Advanced AC/DC Circuits, C.D. completed a homework project in which he was
responsible for researching careers in engineering, and C.D. earned a 100 on the assignment.
(T., Vol. 1V at 1476). Mr. George believes that C.D. enjoyed answering engineering questions in
front of the class because he would get a “big grin on his face.” (T., Vol. IV atl477). Like
freshman year, C.D. maintained and organized a class notebook with 75-100 pages of notes from
the NIDA lessons which were organized chronologically by lesson. (T., Vol. VI at 1483-84).
Again, C.D. was able to complete a daily notebook, participate in class, work on the NIDA
curriculum, and ultimately earn a 94 in the class. (T., Vol. TV at1475-76; D-103 Bates 002784).

34.

In Advanced AC/DC Circuits, C.D. also completed an independent project where he
reengineered an LED light kit into a carnival game. (T., Vol. VI at 1485-86). This particular
project required C.D. to have initiative, intelligence, skill, and focus. (T., Vol. VI at 1487). C.D.
assisted other students by explaining the concepts to them, (/d.)

35.

In tenth grade electronics classes, C.D. did not need redirection because he was on task in
Mr, George’s classes. (T., Vol. VIat 1493-94). Mr. George estimated that C.D. was on task 85-
90% of the time. (T., Vol. VI at 1494).

36.
C.D.’s 504 Plan was continued throughout his sophomore year, with C.D. receiving the

following accommodations:

* Extended time (100%) on tests, quizzes, and standardized tests;
* Schedule math as early in the day as possible; and
» Scheduled into the smallest classes possible.
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(D-11 Bates 000306). C.D.’s parents attended parent conferences to discuss C.D.’s 504 Plan on
September 13, 2010 and May 5, 2011. (D-11 Bates 000333-36).  The 504 Plan appears to have
been successful as indicated by C.D.’s performance in his sophomore year.

37.

During his sophomore yeal‘, C.D. took the PSAT, scoring in the g7t percentile in critical
reading, in the 98" percentile in mathematics, and in the 90™ percentile of writing skills. (D-8
Bates 000147). Those PSAT score results show that C.D. was in the top 87% when compared to
college bound juniors. (/d.). During his sophomore year, C.D. served in a leadership role on the
robotics team. (D-77 Bates 001382). Finally, it should be noted that C.D. earned 3 4s, 4 Bs, and
a C. (D-103 Bates 002786).

3. C.D.’s Junior Year in the Magnet Program.

38.

C.D.’s grades as a junior were as follows:

Fall Semester

* Health: 93
s Personal Fitness: 83
e New Concepts: 90
¢ New Systems: 94
¢ AP US History: 77 (EOCT score 93); (AP Exam 3 of 5)

Spring Semester

* Honors American
Literature: 82 (EOCT 94)
* AP Calculus AB: 76 (AP Exam 4 of 5)
* Advanced Physics
Robotics: 95
e Fundamentals of
Telecommunications: 81
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(D-103 Bates 002784; D-94 Bates 2660). C.D. was not absent a single day his junior year.
Ultimately, at the end of C.D.’s junior year, his weighted GPA was 3.458. (D-103 Bates
002784).
a. C.D.’s Performance in Electronics Classes,
39.

In the fall semester of his junior year, C.D. took two independent studies \Vith Mr.
Georgc to continue working on tfle electronics curriculum through NIDA. (T, Vol. VI1at 1495).
These two classes were structured similarly to the freshman and sophomore classes, where C.D.
* worked through a computer system to learn electronics concepts. (T., Vol. VI at 1496). There
were 20-30 students in the classroom; however, not all students would be taking the same class,
as some would be in the advanced AC/DC or digital class. (T., Vol. VI at 1497),

| 40.

In his junior year, C.D. converted a red gas can into a speaker system in his electronics
classes with Mr. George. (T., Vol. VI at 1498). C.D. did not finish his speaker because he was
helping other students with their projects. (T., Vol. VI at 1498), Because C.D. demonstrated
engineering knowledge for the project by helping éther students, he received a 100 on the
project. (T., Vol. VI at 1498).

41,

In the Fundamentals of Telecommunications, C.D. built a wiring harness and taught other

students to solder. (T., Vol. VI at 1500-01).
42.
Mr. George, C.D.’s electronics teacher in ninth, tenth, and eleventh grades, stated that

C.D. never said he was doing six hours of homework a night; C.D.’s parents never contacted Mr.
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George about how long homework was taking; and C.D. never said he was having difficulties in
other classes. (T., Vol. VI at 1491). In fact, when Mr. George asked C.D. how he was doing in
other classes, C.D. stated “pretty good.” (T., Vol. VI at 1491). Mr. George did not know that
C.D. héd failing grades in his other classes at some point during the semester. (T., Vol, VI at
1491), |

43,

Mr. George never observed C.D. getting lost on his way to class, and C.DD. never
expressed to Mr. George that he did not know where to be in school or when to be there, (T.,
Vol. VI at 1553-54).

44,

Mr. George explained that the final grade is what a student earns once all grades are
entered for the semester. A final grade is a more accurate portrayal of a student’s work over the
entire semester. None of C.D.’s final grades in ninth through eleventh concerned Mr. George.
(T., Vol. VI at 1555).

45.
Ulﬁmately, Mr. George wrote a recommendation for C.D. to get into MIT, which stated

that C.D. was “self-motivated” and “would make a good student at MIT.” (T., Vol. V1 at 1555).

46.

As noted above, Mr. George hired C.D. to work for him with his company Pedals by
George, designing and building custom guitar pedals. (T., Vol. IV at 1479-80). In this capacity,
C.D. soldered almost 100 guitar pedals with each one being perfect, and C.D. never injured
himself. (T., Vol. IV at 1480-81). Based on Mr. George’s personal experience hiring C.D., Mr.

George believed that C.D. could currently keep a job. (T., Vol, IV at 1481). Mr. George also
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believed that C.D. was capable of going to college because he is intelligent, even if it took him a
little time to figure out how to do laundry. (T., Vol. IV at 1481-82). Ultimately, Mr. George
_ described C.D. as a “natural-born engineer.” (T., Vol. 1V at 1482-83). Though Plaintiffs
claimed C.D. needs an assistive living facility, Mr. George whole-heartedly disagreed. (T., Vol.
IV at 1482-83). Mr. George thought that C.D. could become an electrical engineer. (T., Vol. VI
at 1499), |

47.

In the three years that Mr. George taught C.D. and the over 1,000 hours he spent with
C.D., Mr. George summarized C.D. as saying he is “better than most.” (T., Vol. VI at 1504).
Indeed, Mr. George held high regard for C.D. and his abilities. (Id). In Mr. George’s opinion,
C.D. learned the material in his class. (T., Vol. VI at 1499).

48,

C.D. also testified as to his success in these classes. (T., Vol. IX at 2164-68). C.D. stated
that he served as a “class manager” in electronics classes, responsible for keeping other students
on task. ({d.). C.D., ultimately stated, “I was really into not only just learning, but also helping
other students to learn because I was able to grasp the material very quickly.” (T., Vol. IX at
2160). C.D. went on to describe a situation in which he observed a student struggling with a
soldering iron, and C.D. taught the student how to solder, even though the student did not
express any need for help. (T., Vol. IX at 2183).

49,
C.D. very rarely required rediredion in Mr. George’s classes. (T., Vol. VI at 1504).

Further, Mr. George did not have to sit with C.D. to keep him focused. (/d.)

Page 17 of 89




b. C.D.’s Performance in Advanced Placement (“AP”) U.S. History.
50.
Mr. Chris Shields (“Mr. Shields™) taught C.D. AP U.S. History during the fall semester of
C.D.’s junior year. The AP U.S. History curriculum covered Native Americans, colonization,
and all of U.S. History, includiﬁg detailed analysis of culture, music, art, and literature. (T., Vol.
VI at 1558; 1561-62; D- 83 Bates 001511-002154). Typically the class is taught over two
semesters, but C.D. took the class in a more accelerated pace, covering the entire set of standards
in a single semester. (T., Vol. VI at 1559). Mr. Shields described this as a “very difficult” class.
(T., Vol. VI at 1563). Mr. Shields observed C.D. for approximately 135 hours of in-class
instructional time. (T., Vol. VI at 1575-76). He described C.D. as a “good student.” (T, Vol. VI
at 1564),
51
Mr. Shields taught class by having students answer essay questions, which if not
completed in class would become homework. (T, Vol. VIat 1564). He had very open deadlines
for turning in homework. (T., Vol. VI at 1564). C.D.’s essays were excellent when C.D. knew
the specifics of a reading, and the essays were generally mediocre when C.D. did not know the
material as well. (T., Vol. VIat 1567). Thus, at worst, C.D.’s essays were mediocre. (Id.).

52.

C.D brought his materials to class, and Mr. Shields did not know of any instance where
C.D. lost his laptop'®. (T., Vol. VI at 1568-89). When given an in-class assignment, C.D.
typically would start on the assignment immediately. (T., Vol. VI at 1585). M. Shields could

only recall one incident in which C.ID. was delayed starting on an essay by inattention. (T., Vol.

M CD. used the laptop daily. (T., Vol. IX at 2138). Despite Plaintiffs’ assertions about the level of C.D.’s
disorganization, there is no evidence that he ever lost the laptop.

Page 18 of 89




VI at 1585). When C.D. would lose focus, one or two attempts at redirection would get C.D.
back on task."” (T., Vol. VI at 1594).
53.

In class, C.D. did individual work as assigned with his written answers being “very to the
point.” (T., Vol. VI at 1569). One of the main types of assessment in AP U.S. History is the
document-based question (“DBQ”), in which students had to answer essay questions using
historical documents and information that they learned in the class. (T., Vol. VIat 1570). DBQs
are one of the most difficuit assignments in AP U.S. History. (T., Vol. VI at 1570-71). C.D.
knew how to follow the complicated instructions to complete the DBQs, and he did well on
them. (T., Vol. VIat 1571). There were students in this AP class, who Mr. Shields had to walk
through the instructions, step by step, but C.D. was not one of those students. (T., Vol. VI at
1571).

54.

C.D. earned a 93 on the U.S. History EOCT. (T., Vol. VI at 1574). The EOCT assesses a
student’s understanding of the state standards. (T., Vol. VI at 1574-75; D-50 Bates 001173-
001185). C.D.’s grade on the EOCT is indicative of him having learned the standards for U.S.
History. (T., Vol. VI at 1575). The A.P. US. History curriculum is more difficult than the
EOCT. (T., Vol. VI at 1574; 1615). C.D. scored a 77 in the class.!® (D-103 Bates 002784). C.D.
studied, indeiaendently for four months, and carned a 3 on the AP U.S. History exam, which

could earn college credit at some colleges. (T., Vol. VIat 1577-79).

B CD, himself, testified that he would not lose focus for more than five to ten minutes in a class. (T., Vol. IX at
2127.

'® A grade of 77 in the AP U.S. History class is the equivalent of an 4 in the on-level (i.e., general education)
curricdum. (T., Vol. VII at 1600).
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55.

Thus, in AP U.S. History, C.D. scored a 93 on the EOCT, a 3 on the AP exam, and a 77
in the class. (D-103 Bates 002784; D-94 Bates 2660). To carn these scores, C.D. would have
had to manage his own preparation for the course and manage his own workload because the
students are responsible for their own learning in this class. (T., Vol. VII at 1598-99).

56.

In Mr. Shields’ opinion, C.D.’s ability to learn was not impacted by any disorganization
or momentary lapses in focus. (T., Vol. VII at 1597-98). In general, C.D. was able to find his
assignments when Mr. Shields asked for them. (T., Vol. VI at 1580). In Mr. Shields’s class,
there were students who could not inanage the workload, could not plan, could not turn in
assigﬁments, could not participate in class discussions, and could not keep up, but C.D. was not
one of those students. (T., Vol. VII at 1599-1600).

57.

When asked if C.D. was prepared to go to college, Mr. Shiclds stated that he thought so:

1 think so. Given the information I had from my class, and just seeing him, you

know, day-to-day in the halls, C.D.’s [a] really smart guy. He was a guy with —

that had social skills, he was intelligent, he was a capable guy.

(T., Vol. VI at 1580-81). In fact, Mr. Shields wrote a recommendation for C.D. to go to MIT,
stating that C.D. is “the type of guy that makes sense for MIT.” (T, Vol. VI at 1585). When
asked if C.D. had fhe skillset to graduate high school, Mr. Shields stated that C.D. could read,

write and analyze better than most students, so he should have been capable of graduating. (T.,

Vol. VI at 1587).
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58.

During one 504 meeting, Mr. Shields expressed some concerns that he had about C.D.
His concerns were that C.D.’s grades could have been higher and that C.D. was not meeting his
full capabilities. (T., Vol. VI at 1604; 1654-55). In other words, he was concerned that C.D.
was not living up to his potential. He was not concerned that C.1D. was not learning. (T., Vol.
VII at 1655). Further, he did not belicve that C.D.’s ADHD prevented him from learning. (1.,
Vol. VI at 1598).

c. C.D.’s Performance in Advanced Placement (“AP?) Calculus AB.

59.

Ms. Julie Walls (“Ms. Walls™) taught AP Calculus AB in the spring of eleventh gl'ade.
(T., Vol. I at 343). Ms. Walls described her calculus class as “incredibly difficult” and requiring
both “intelligence” and «“hard work.” (T, Vol. Ii at 345-46). Ms. Walls described C.D. as a
«gmart student.” (T., Vol. Tl at 363).

60.

Ms. Walls’ AP Calculus AB ¢class covered the mathématical concepts of rate of change,
derivative rules, projectile motion, related rates, anti-derivatives, integrals, curves, volume by
integration, and surface by 'mtegratioh. (T., Vol. Il at 368). C.D. earned a 76, which is a “B”
because of the extra quality point awarded for taking an AP class. (T., Vol. T at 368). C.D. took
the AP Calculus exam and ecarned a “4” on a five-point scale, which would earn college credit.
T., Vol. I at.369; D-13 Bates 000402). According to Ms. Walls, the AP Exam is “very
difficult” (T., Vol. 1T at 369). To prepare for this exam, students in Ms. Walls® class are
required to complete a semester long notebook projeet, which includes notes and examples of

every topic covered during the semester. (T., Vol. 1 at 370; T., Vol. IX at 2099, 2211, 2215).
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Throughout the semester, Ms, Walls reminds her student to work on their notebook. (T., Vol. X
at 2214-15). C.D. completed the AP Calculus AB notcbook and the quality was “good.” (T,
Vol. I at 370; T., Vol. X at 2215-17). To complete the notebook, C.D. stated that he worked
for three to four days straight, even not sleeping the night before it was due, s0 that he could
complete the project. (T., Vol. IX at 2098).

| 61.

In AP Calculus AB, C.D. was able to complete most of his work when given extended
time. (T., Vol. Il at 345). Ms. Walls believed that C.D.’s performance in her class was the resul‘g
of a lack of effort because she saw other students who would seck extra help because of the
difficulty of AP Calculus but C.D. “never took advantage of those [opportunities].” (T., Vol. 11
at 347). Ms. Walls also did not think that C.D. was exhibiting the effort to study because ‘he did
not avail himself of the class notes or flashcards on her website. (T., Vol 1L at 357).

62.

In the AP Calculus AB class, C.ID. paid attention most of the time, and needed only
minimal redirection.”” (T, Vol. IX at 2218-19). Though Ms. Walls was told that C.D. needed a
tutor for her class, many of her students used a tutor, as the class was a difficult class. (T., Vol.
1l at 359).

63.

On March 14, 2012, during C.D.’s junior year, Ms. Walls received an email from Mrs.
D., which was originally intended for C.D. (T, Vol. 1I at 384; D-26 Bates 000847). In that
email, Mrs. D. told C.D. that he needed to take school more seriously and “stop blowing off your
responsibilitiest” (T., Vol. 11 at 3184; D-26 Bates 000847) (emphasis added). Mis. D, then,

e
17 Ms. Walls needed to redirect C.D. during class two-three times per week fo keep him on task. (T., Vol. Il at 372).
Notably, this testimony regarding minimal redirection is consistent among C.D.’s teachers.
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stated, “We are very disappointed in the choices we are seeing you make.” (T., Vol. Il at 384; D-
26 Bates 000847). Specifically, she stated as follows:
Again, here is the email from Ms. Walls. She wouidn’t have emailed it if it
wasn’t important. You need to take this little bit more seriously and stop blowing
off your responsibilities! By the way your grade in AP Cale only went up one

point to 61. You really don’t think that's an issue??? We are very disappointed
in the choices we are seeing you make. They are your choices and you own them.

(D-26 Bates 000847). Based on Ms. Wall’s own observations and this email, it was reasonable
for Ms. Walls to believe that C.D.’s struggles were the result of his lack of effort.
64.

Though C.D. did not complete all of his assignments in his junior year, Ms. Walls had
many students who had trouble completing the work for her class because the workload for
juniors and senior is very difficult. (T., Vol. IT at 349). Notably, C.D.’s most common excuse
for not having work was that he was still working on it and would have it tomorrow. (T, Vol IX
at 2248).

65.

Regarding implementing the 504 Plan, C.D. would come back to Ms. Walls’ class to
complete tests duting his junior year. (T., Vol. IX at 2220-2223). Though he may not have
finished the test as promptly as .Ms. Walls would have liked, he was able té earn passing grades
on those tests through utilizing the extended time,”® (/d.).

66.

Ultimately, Ms. Walls testified that it was clear that C.D. learned the AP Calculus AB

curriculum because his overall grade and AP exam score could only be achieved by

understanding a majority of the concepts. (T., Vol. IX at 2223). Further, Ms. Walls testified that

-

15 A5 discussed below, this is very different from C.D.'s performance in Ms. Wails’ AP Calculus BC class senior
year.
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C.D. appeared to pay attention in class and participated in class discussions. (T., Vol IX at
1925-26). Ms. Walls did not think that ¢.D.s ADHD impacted his ability to learn because the
exams, which C.D. scored well on, required multi-step problems, sirong vocabulary, and good
explanations; thus, C.D. was learning the material to complete those tests in AP Calculus AB.
(T., Vol. IX at 2228). Most importantly, Ms. Walls believed that C.D. learned these calculus
standards in her class through bher instruction because she did not sce evidence of C.D.
referencing outside learning sources, like websites with calculus videos. (T., Vol. IX at 2231).
Most importantly, Ms. Walls did not believe that C.D. needed special education. (T., Vol. IX at
2251). Ms. Walls® experience includes teaching in a team-taught environment and implementing
over 30 IEPé. (T., Vol. IX at 2207). She believed that C.D. did not need special education
because the students who she had taught, who needed special IEP, were not capable of doing the
work or learning the material. (T., Vol IX at 2251-52). C.D.on the other band was capable of
learning as demonstrated by the quality wotk he turned in when chose to do the work. (T., Vol.
IX at 2251-52).

d. C.D.’s 504 Plan.

61.

Tn eleventh grade, CD. was supported through a 504 Plan, which included the following

accommodations:

o Extended time (100%) for tests, quizzes, and standardized tests;
o Scheduled math as early in the day as possible; and
« Scheduled into the smallest classes available.

(D-11 Bates 000340). Ms. Walls opined that the 504 Plan worked during C.D.’s junior yeat

because extended time was all that he really needed. (T., Vol IXat 2317).
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e C.D.’s Other Accomplishments and Activities.
68.
During his Junior year, C.D. applied to MIT. (D-77 Bates 001376). In C.D.’s college
application documents on the Naviance system, C.I>. noted the following accomplishments:

o ILeadership responsibilities in robotics club;

o Development of a specialized battery pack for unmanned flight;

e Volunteering at summer science camps for elementary school students'”;
e Philosophy Club;

e Competing in Ultimate Frisbee; and

e  Work with Pedals by George.

(D-77 Bates 001382-83). More specifically, he described himself as able to “learn new skills

very quickly” and as “very skilled with robotics, electronics, mechanics, engineering, physics,

ballistics, aerodynamics, compuiers, and designing.” (Id.). C.D.was also involved in the group

of clectronics students who were responsible for setting up sound equipment for large school
functions with Mr. George. (T., Vol. VIat 1581).
69.

Mis. D. completed a “Parent Perspective” to assist in the college application process. (T.,

Vol. IV at 984-85; D-77 Bates 001381). In that Parent Perspective, Mrs. D stated, “[C.D.] has

gone from a basic knowledge of engineering to designing a pulse-detonation jet engine and is

now working on a 65KJ electromagnetic linear accelerator.” (Id.). Mrs. D. then stated that

college admissions officers should know that C.D. “has a passion for learning and that he is

innovative, curious, fuil of imagination, and he has a strong desire to create and design.” (Id.).

19 ). described teaching fifth through eighth graders science curricuium with Mr, George in a summer camp at the
school. (T., Vol. 1X at 2189). ‘
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70.
As an eleventh grader, C.D. met expectations ot the Georgia High School Graduation
Test for Writing. (D-8 Bates 000149). In December of his Junior year, C.D. took the ACT and
scored “at or above” level in every subject: English, Mathematics, Reading, and Science. (D-8
Bates 0000151). Tn the summer after his Junior year, C.D. took the SAT, scoring in the 95
percentile for Reading, 98™ percentile for Math, and 94" percentile for writing. (D-8 Bates
000150). The ACT and SAT measure a student’s acquisition of academic skills and knowledge.
(T., Vol. VIl at 1808-10). n other words, they measure what a student tas learned. (T Vol TH
at 745).
71.
As noted above, C.D. took the EOCT in Honors American Lit, scoring a 94, and in AP
U.S. History, scoring a 93. (D-103 Bates 002784). C.D. earned a 3 on the AP U.S. History
exam and a 4 on the AP Calculus AB exam. (D-13 Bates 000402). C.D.’s GPA at the end of his
Junior year was a 1.458. (D-103 Bates 002784).
4. C.D.’s Senior Year in the Magnet Program.
72.
Plaintiffs claim that C.D.’s senior year was no different than his other years. However,
C.D.’s senior year is the first time that he ever failed a class. From ninth through eleventh grade,
C.D. would have failing grades in his classes at somc point during the semester; however, he
would always get the work completed and pass the classes. ( Cf. T, Vol. TV at 864-65 and D-103
Bates 002784). For the first time in his academic career, C.D. did not complete the work to pass

the classes in his senior year.
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73.
Plaintiffs’ expert, Dr. Qara Deckelbaum (“Dr. Deckelbaum”), a psychologist who
independently evaluated C.D., noted that there were unusual stressors 10 C.D.s twelfth grade
that created the “perfect storm” in that year:

.. twelfth grade was probably — my guess — the perfect storm. 1 understand

mom went back to work ... and he had a project that there was much less
stiucture and he was on his own, and I understand that there were some issucs
with the internship and once he falls behind on something, he’s going to have
even more difficulty catching up.
(T., Vol. V at 1217-18) (emphasis added)
74.
High school was harder for C.D. because as Mrs. D. described, “it got progressively
hatder every yeat” and “the workload and responsibilities were more...r.” (T., Vol. T at 149).
Mrs. D. stated that his struggles with organization and initiation got “worse evety year.” (T., Vol.
IV at 884). Ms. Moudgal, in her experience, opined that the curriculum gets more rigorous as a
stodent matriculates through each grade. (T., Vol. 1 at 497). In addition, the fall semester of
senior year can be very difficult if a student is simultaneously taking the Internship and Research
class while applying to colleges. (T., Vol. 11 at 484). Some students find the process of leaving
the building to attend an internship as the most difficult part of high school. (T., Vol 1l at 489-
- 90).
75.
Consistent with Mrs. D.’s and Ms. Moudgal’s description of the difficulty of senior year,
Ms. Kamath, Plaintiffs’ expert witness regarding executive functioning, also opined that the

transition from eleventh to twelfth grade is one of the most difficult academic transitions because

of the preparation for college readiness. (T., Vol. 1l at 753-54). When asked about the global
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nature of executive functioning disorder, Ms. Kamath stated that the manifestation typically
happens later in life as the necessity of gxecutive functioning okills becomes more necessary.
Specifically, she stated as follows:
Executive dysfunction is just like any disorder, particularly developmental
disorder, Your Honor, is a spectrumn disorder. That means it ranges in its severity.
1t’s not static disorder, it's 2 dynamic disorder. That means you don’t either have
it or you don’t have it. You have degrees of it. And one jmportant thing to
remember 18 it is a disorder in your adaptive ability. So if your adaptive
demands change, your manifestation of disability will get exaggerated. And
that's why repeatedly 1 will tell you more of the referrals come to me in middle
school and high school years than elementary. .- So I'm saying it s also defined
by the context it which the child is asked 10 perform. Qo a student’s exccutive

functioning proficiency needs to be more demonstrated in twelfth grade than in
seventh grade. So there’s a progression of it.

(T., Vol. 1l at 777)(emphasis added).
76.

Dr. Deckelbaum, Plaintiffs’ psychologist who evaluated Cc.D., also opined that gxecutive
functioning gkills become mOFe important as 3 person gains more independence progressing
through high school and life. (T., Vol. V at 1166). Thus, the effects of executive function
disorder become mMore profound in higher grades:

And then, as 18 common, J would say throughout high school that problems

3

become More SeVere in executive functioning as you advance 1 grades because
yow're given more independence and moIc tasks that require executive
functioning skills.
(T., Vol. V at 1212).
71.
Ultimately, the nature of the work in twelfth grade, like a semester long project; might be

the first time the true extent of CD.’8 executive functioning disorder became truly apparent. (T,

Vol. V at 1212).
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78.

During C.D.’s senior year, both Mr. D. and Mrs. D. went back to work full-time. (T., Vol.
11 at 909; 959) Because Mrs. D. was working full-time she was not as involved in C.D.s
academics as in previous years. (T., Vol. IV at 909; T., Vol. V at 1140-41). Mus. D. stated that
her return to working full-fime was a “huge factor” during C.D.’s senior year. (T., Vol, IV at
1008). She further stated, “Twelfth grade, I was working so T wasn’t able to do as much as |
used to do.” (T., Vol. IV at 1011). During C.D.’s ninth grade year, his Father was laid off. (T.,
Vol. Il at 958). The loss of income required the family to “cut back.” (T., Vol. I at 959). During
C.D.’s senior year, his Father went back to work full-time. (T., Vol. I at 959).

79.

Ms. Santelli, C.D.’s Economics/Government teacher, opined that that C.D. seemed
consumed with “more exciting things than high school,” such as his girifriend and his planned
summet trip to Europe. (T., Vol. VI at 1404).

80.

C:D. admitted that he chose not to do the work in AP Calculus BC and his two
engineering classes during the spring semester of his senior year so that he could focus on trying
to pass his Honors English class. (T., Vol. IX at 2100). Also, as noted below, C.D. admitted to
one of his teachers that he did not take her class seriously. (T., Vol. VIL At 1678-79). |

81.

As described above, students in the Magnet Program at High School typically

utilized tutors. In ninth through eleventh grade, C.D. utilized a tutor; however, he could not

remember having a tutor during his senior year. (T., Vol. IX at 2122-2124).
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82.

Dr. Kinard, the District’s expert witness, opined that environmental factors could
exacerbate executive function disorder. (T., Vol. VIL at 1798). She specifically explained that
someone with executive functioning disorder has difficulty rallying resources 10 stay focused, so
if outside stressors exhaust those resources necessary fo stay focused, the symptoms of executive
functioning disorder could become more profound. (T., Vol. VII at 1798-90). Ms. Kamath,
Plaintiffs’ expert witness in executive functioning, agreed that symptoms of executive
functioning could be exacerbated by outside sources. (T., Vol. T11, at 756},

83.

Ms. Kamath also opined that “gituational interferences,” which are events that make 2
person sad, could exacerbate executive functioning. (T., Vol. Il at 757-58). Specifically, being
rejected from a college could be such a situationa! interference. (T., Vol. Tl at 759). Dr.
Deckelbaum also opined that C.D. being rejected from MIT could have had an impact. (T., Vol.
V at 1218). C.D. losing his magnet seal could have exacerbated his ADHD. (T, Vol. VII at
1860).

84.

During C.D.’s senior year, his grandmother was suffering from dementia, which required
Mis. D to focus on helping her instead of C.D. (T., Vol. V at 1136). Sadly, C.D. had to
experience the death of his grandmother in March, 2013. (T, Vol IV at 959) . According to Dr.
Deckelbaum, a death in the family could have an impact on a student’s ADHD. (T., Vol V at

1218).
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85.
Additionally, Mrs. D described cD.s ADHD medication as changing in both strength
and prescription OVerX the years. {To, Vol. 1V at g814-15). Furthermore, she testified that C.D.
builds up a tolerance to the medication. (T., Vol. V at 1141).
86.
C.D.’s seniot grades aic as follows:
Fall

o AP Physics C: 83
e Honors FEconomics: 91 (EOCT score: 95)
¢ Honors Government: 74
o Advanced Research: 50
o Advanced Internship: 50

Spring

o H World Lit: 55
« AP Calculus BC 41
o TResearch and Design: 72
o Engineering Ap.: 59

(D-103 Bates 002784). C.D.was absent 2 days his senior year.
87.
Ms. Nicole Santelli (“Ms. Santelli™) taught C.D. Economics and Government in the fall
semester of his senior year. (T Vol. VI at 1325-26). Ms. Santelli observed C.D. for
approximately 135 hours during the semesterm. (T., Vol V1 at 13415 1348). Ms. Santelli

described C.D. asa “good kid” “really sweet” and “very bright.” (T Vol. V1 at 1325)-

e ———
™ Fach day of class is approximately an hour and a half with approximately 90 days of instruction per gemester,
which totals approximately 135 hours of teacher observation per class per semester. (T., Vol. V1at 1348)
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88.

In Ms. Santelli’s Honors FEconomics class, students learned about supply and demand,
graphing, business ownership, markets, fiscal and monetary policy, international trade, absolute
and comparative advantage, personal finance and investing, and the corresponding vocabulaty.
(T., Vol. VI at 1326; D-44 Bates 001131-001140).

89.

As evidence of C.IDs excellent understanding of the material, C.D. earned a 95 on the
EOCT, without using extended time, and he earned a 91 overall grade in the cOurse. (T., Vol. VI
at 1328).

90.

One of the major projects in the Honors Economics class was & “jife simulation.” (T.,
Vol. VI at 1329). Students spent ninc-wecks creating a fantasy life through selecting a job,
establishing a salary, finding and renting an apartment, financing a car, saving and investing, and
budgeting for life after high school. (T., Vol. V@ at 1329-31). Each week the students would
complete one patt of the project on their own, based on approximately ten minutes of instruction
per week. (T., Vol VI at 1331). Ms. Santelli did not che(;,k the progress of the project on a
weekly basis, but the project was due in its entirety at the end of the nine weeks. (T., Vol. Vlat
1331). C.D. created a fantasy tife where he was an engineer in California, and the calculations
for his budget were “perfect.” (T, Vol. VI at 1332). C.D. turned the project in a few days late,
and Ms. Santelli may have taken off points for it being late. (T, Vol. VI at 1332). Ms. Santelli
believed C.D. complefed this project himself without help pecause it was his handwriting, the

concepts of buying 2 fancy sports car and being an engineer Wero consistent with C.D.’s
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personality, and the projected annual salary of $160,000 was consistent with a student’s
expectations, not a parent’s. (T., Vol. VI at 1333).
91.

In completing that project, C.D. never stated that he did not undetstand the instructions or
that C.D. was confused about how to complete the project. (T., Vol. VI at 1333). C.D.’s Parents
never communicated to Ms. Santelli about any problems with the project. (T., Vol. VI at 1334).
C.D. did say that he had waited until the last minute and was up late working on it, which is not
unusual for students who procrastinate. (T., Vol. VI at 1334). C.D.’s final grade on thé life
.simulation project was a 95. (T., Vol. VI at 1335; D-18 Bates 000468).

92.

In addition to the life simulation project, Ms. Santelli observed C.D. successfully
complete quizzes on personal finances and the stock market, create a storybook for children
which describes investing, design a picture book illustrating the GDP, and complete various in
class quizzes on economic concepts. (T., Vol. VI at 1336-37; 1357).

93.

The only assignment that C.D. did not complete in Economics was a ‘“tedious”
vocabulary exercise, defining fifty words relating to microeconomics. (T., Vol. VI at 1338).
Approximately, ten students a semester would not complete this assignment. (T., Vol. VI at
1338).

94.
Ms. Santelli also taught C.D. for Government, in which C.D. carned a 74. (T., Vol. VI at

1341; D-103 Bates 002784). Ms. Santelli often observes students who like economics more than
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government or vice versa, which results in a “grade disparity between the two.” (T., Vol. VI at
1341).
95.

In Ms. Santelli’s Honors Government class, students learned about the legislative,
executive, and judicial branches of government, the Constitution, political parties, rthe election
process, voting, and important court opinions. (T, Vol. VI at 1343). Ms. Santelli believed that
C.D. learned these concepts based on C.D.’s work analyzing a political cartoon, creating a poster
for the 27 amendments, and participating in political discussions. (T., Vol. VI at 1343-45),

96.

There was a semester-long, independent project analyzing multiple political cartoons and
cotresponding newspaper articles that C.D. did not complete. (T, Vol. VI at 1346). Ms. Santelli
described this as a “daunting project [that] the kids don’t like” and noted that five to seven
students per semester do not do the project. (T., Vol. VI at 1346). When asked if he was doing
the project, C.D. told Ms. Santelli that he would have it. (T., Vol. VI at 1347). This was similar
to the response C.DD. gave when she asked him about the life simulation project in the Honors
Economics class, which C.D. did complete. (T., Vol. VI at 1332, 1347). Ultimately, C.D. did
not complete the political cartoon project, which, in part, resulted in his grade being a 74. (T.,
Vol. VI at 1341-42, 1345-46). C.D. did not say why he did not complete the project. (T., Vol. VI
at 1346).

97.

Ultimately, by the end of the first semester of senior year, Ms. Santelli felt as though

“C.D. was more engaged in college and getting ready fbr college, and was kind of over high

school.” (T., Vol. VI at 1347).
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98.
Ms. Santelli stated that C.D. initiated classwork at the same pace as his classmates. (T.,
Vol. VI at 1336). e was on-task in class at least 75% of the time. (T., Vol. VI at 1350). He was
only “marginally” more distractible than his peers. (T., Vol. VI at 1357). Ms. Santelli did note
that C.D. was distracted by an engineering project to build a rocket, and that launching a missile
was likely more interesting than supply and demand charts. (T., Vol. VI at 1356-57). Almost
75% of the work for economics and government is done in class, and Ms. Santelli observed C.D.
do thel work in class without needing to be prompted or redirected. (T., Vol. VI at 1358).
99.
Ms. Santelli did not see anything in C.D.’s academic performance that concerned her.
(T., Vol. VI at 1340). In her opinion, he was able to learn the material in her class. (T., Vol. VI
at 1343-44). She based her opinion on the work C.D. completed for her class and his test scores.
(Id. at 1344). Ms. Santelli was “absolutely” sure that C.D. was prepared for college because she
saw him every day, for five days a week, for eighteen weeks, and never observed him struggle
“socially, physically, or mentally.” (T., Vol. VI at 1348). She stated that she does have students
who she worries about going to college, but C.D. “was never one of them.” (T., Vol. VI at 1348).
Though Ms. Santelli observed that C.D.’s book bag was disorganized and that he sometimes had
trouble finding his class materials, she also observed other students who were much more
disorganized and who went on “to be successful in college.” (T., Vol. VI at 1350),
100.
Ms. Santelli observed that C.D. seemed consumed with “things more exciting than high
school:

He was talking about his girlfriend that he was talking to online, He was talking
about going to Eastern Europe in the summer. He was maybe not tired of
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working, but he was consumed with other things, bigger — not bigger but probably
like more exciting things than high school for him.

(T., Vol. VI at 1404). Ms. Santelli completed a pragmatic language checklist regarding C.D., in
which she noted that C.D. was a procrastinator. (D-42 Bates 001120).
101.

Ultimately, Ms. Santelli did not think C.D. needed special education because C.D. did not
struggle with the material, was able to understand the material, could produce quality work and
had friends. (T., Vol. VI at 1364-66). When asked if she believed that C.DD. needed to live in an
assistive living facility, Ms. Santelli stated, “absolutety not.” (T, Vol. V1 at 1350). In explaining
why C.D. did not need an assistive living facility, Ms. Santelli stated that the idea was “really
silly” because she had observed C.D. socialize with friends, facilitate transportation for his
internship, show up to class, get his own lunch, and attend meetings for robotics club. (T, Vol.
VI at 1353). Ultimately, an assistive living facility for C.D. wouic{ be a hindrance as it would
suffocate and stifle “all that he’s eligible to accomplish.” (T., Vol. VI at 1353).

102.

The Internship and Research classes, which C.D. took in the fall of his senior yeat,
consisted of working as an intern at a work site for at least 70 hours and submitting college level
research in conjunction with the work done in the internship. (T., Vol. II at 488; T., Vol. VL at
1663). Dr. Cheryl Crooks (“Dt. Crooks”) and Dr. Dawn Adams (“Dr. Adams”) werc the
teachers for these courses. (T., Vol. IV at 909).

103.

Dr. Adams has been responsible for the Internship class for thirteen years. (T., Vol. VIL

At 1662). In the Internship class, students are responsible for learning about resumes, cover

letters, networking, interview skills, and preparation for the workforce or college environment.
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(T., Vol. VIL. At 1662). In Dr. Crooks’ Research class, which is taught in conjunction with
Internship, students write a research paper on a subject relevant to their internship. (T., Vol. VII.
At 1663). For all thirteen years, Dr. Adams has worked in tandem with Dr. Crooks on the
Internship and Research classes. Thus, Dr. Adams is very familiar with the assignments in Dr.,
Crooks’ class. (T., Vol. VII. at 1666).

104.

These classes consist of two of the student’s four blocks of instruction for a semester. (T,
Vol. VII. At 1664). They are a requirement for the Magnet seal. (T., Vol. VIL. At 1664). Over
the course of the semester, Dr. Adams observed C.D. in class for approximately 180 hours. (T.,
Vol. VI at 1719).

105.

C.D. failed both the Internship and Research classes, which resulted in him losing his
Magnet Seal. (T., Vol. IV at 913 1715-16). Internship and Research was the first class C.D.
failed in his entire academic experience. (T., Vol. VII at 1716). C.D. admitted to failing the
class because he did not put forth the effort. (D-37 Bates 001041). As described below, C.D.
failed this class because he did not take the assignments seriously and did not do the work.

106.

One of Dr. Adams’ assignments was to write thank you notes to the speakers who
presented to the class. (T, Vol. VIL At 1668). C.D. demonstrated learning in the Internship class
because he was able to write thank you notes which were articulate and well written. (T., Vol.
VII at 1671-72). However, C.D. turned in his thank you notes many weeks late. (T., Vol. VII at
1670). The notes were so late that Dr. Adams could not send them with the rest of the class’

notes. (T., Vol. VIl at 1670-71). C.D. earned half credit for the thank you note assignment
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because it was so untimely. (T., Vol. VII at 1670). C.D. also demonstrated learning by
submitting a completed resume; however, like the thank you notes, the resume was four weeks
late, so he earned half credit. (T., Vol. VII at 1688).

107.

Dr. Adams observed C.D. writing professional emails, which followed the specific
instructions for writing a cover letter. (T., Vol. VII at 1706). Thus, C.D. was able to follow Dr.
Adams instructions for the specific content of each paragraph in a cover letter and actually send
that cover letter to potential internship sites. (T., Vol. VII at 1706-07). C.D. did not need one-on-
one instruction or prompting to write his professional cover letter. (T., Vol. VII at 1708).
Because the email was written at 9:24am on a Monday, it is clear that C.D. wrote the email while
in class. (T., Vol. VII at 1708).

108.

Ultimately, C.D. failed the Internship and Research classes. His failure was the result of

not doing any of the work for the final exam, and incomplete or untimely assignments.
109.

Regarding the internship, students spend the first four weeks of the Internship class
preparing and searching for an internship. (T., Vol. VIL at 1663). In general, the students are
responsible for securing their internship. (T., Vol. IV at 904), However, on the first day of the
class, Dr. Adams had an internship available for C.D. with the Georgia Tech aerospace
engineering group. (T., Vol. VIL at 1679). Four students accepted that internship, and there was
space for a total of thirty students. (T., Vol. VIL. At 1680). C.D. rejected that internship because
he wanted to work with a group at Dobbins Air Force Base through Georgia Tech Research

Institute. (T., Vol. VIL at 1680). Thus, the delay in beginning his internship was primarily
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because C.D.’s chose to reject an available internship, in order for him to get the internship he
preferred. (T., Vol. VII at 1705). Ultimately, C.D. was able to obtain an internship, complete all
of his hours for the internship, and earn full credit for the work he performed during time he was
actually at internship. (T., Vol. IV at 966: T., Vol. VII at 1683). C.D. received an “A” for the
work he did at the internship. (T., Vol. VII at 1683).
110.
As a final project in the Research class, students were responsible for completing a
~comprehensive research project with multiple steps. (T., Vol. at 1693-94). C.D.’s final project
was both late and incomplete. (T., Vol. at 1693-93; D-25 Bates 000576-000842). Students work -
tirelessly on this project. (T., Vol. at 1696). C.D.’s project was “minimal” compared to other
students. (T., Vol. at 1696). In addition to th§> project being untimely, it was missing pieces and
the concept seemed unfeasible. (T., Vol. VII at 1694). Additionally, there was a final exam in
the Internship and Research class, which con-sisted of making a summary illotebook from
components of the final project. (T., Vol. at 1695). The final exam was, in essence, a summary
of the final project. (T., Vol. at 1695-96). C.D. did not turn in or complete the final exam. (T.,
Vol. at 1698; T., Vol. IX at 2094; D-29 Bates 000945). Students received a detailed rubric for the |
separate final exam and discussed it in class. (T., Vol. at 1698-99). However, C.D. did not turn it
in, resulting in a zero for the grade. (T, Vol. at 1698-99).
I11.

Throughout the semester, C.D. was missing a number of assignments for both classes.

After the October 16, 2012 504 meeting, Dr. Crooks sent emails to C.D.’s parents on October 19,
2012 and November 15, 2012 outlining a revised timeline for C.D. to turn in the missing

assignments. (T., Vol. II at 441; 1052-53; D-29 Bates 000938-41). Plaintiffs did not respond to
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Dr. Crooks’ emails about C.D.’s missing assignments. (T., Vol. 1V at 1054-55; D-29 Bates
000945). Mrs. D testified that she did not respond because she was working full-time. (T, Vol
IV at 1054-55).
112.

¢.D. did not meet the revised deadlines outlined in Dr. Crooks’ emails. Rather he turned
in a number of assignments on the last day of the semester, approximately 20 to 30 minutes
before the grades for all students were required to be entered. (T., Vol. VIL at 1677). Many of
these assignments were six, seven, and eight weeks late, so Dr. Adams did not give C.D. credit
for them 2! (T., Vol VIL at 1678). Dr. Adams believes that deadlines are “yery impottant” for
her class because it teaches students about actually succeeding in the workforce. (T., Vol. V1L at
1678). The expectation for work to be completed in a timely manner was communicated to
students. (T., Vol. Vil at 1943). In fact, C.D. signed the syllabus, acknowledging that Dr. Adams
and Dr. Crooks would not give credit for work late. (T., Vol. VII at 1943; D-25 Bates 000760).
C.D. never expressed a problefn being able to meet the expectation of turning in assignments
timely. (T., Vol. VIl at 1944). In explaining why the assignments were late, C.D. never
mentioned struggles with understanding a calendar or problems with organization; instead, he
admitted that he did not take the class very seriously. (T., Vol. VIL At 1678-79).

113.

Specifically, when C.D. turned in a large number of assignments on the last day of the
semester, Dr. Adams had a conversation with C.D. about the importance of professionalism. (T,
Vol. VII at 1709-10). C.D., then, sent Dr. Adams an email about his work in the Internship class.

(T., Vol. VIl at 1708-10; D-37 Bates 00104 1. CD’s email to Dr. Adams stated:

21, fall of senior year, C.D.’s 504 Plan only gave extended time on tests. {D-11 Bates 000356). Nonetheless, Dr.
Crooks and Dr. Adams did give C.I. extended time to turn in the assignments. (D-29 Bates 00093 8-41; T, VoL VII
at 1678). Unfortunately, C.D. did not turn in the assignments by the revised deadlines.
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1 would like to thank you for talking with me today. At this point, 'd normally
start apologizing with a long list of elaborate, BS excuses about ADD and
“genjoritis”, but 1 realized that you were right. I’m tired of making excuses; tired
of constantly trying to justify my own lack of effort. Its not fair of me to not do
any of the work for the entire semester,’ and then just give it all to you on the last
day and expect that {0 magicaily fix everything. I’m not in eighth grade anymore,
and it's about time that I grow up and start taking responsibility for my own
mistakes.

’m sorry for all the crap I've pul you through this semesier, and 1 realize now just
how badly I’ve screwed up. If there’s any consolation for me in this, it’s that my
chances of getting into MIT were already <1%, so it’s not like I was ever actually
getting in, anyway (which is, of course, my own fault for spending the past 3
years slacking off and making excuses).

Anyways, I'm really sorty for feeding you excuse after excuse all semester long
to justify my own laziness. '

(T., Vol. Vil at 1708-10; D-37 Bates 001041).
1i4.

In Dr. Adams’ experience, students miss deadlines because they “chose not to do [the
work].” (T., Vol. VII at 1689). Specifically, as it relates to C.D., Dr. Adams observed C.D.
working on an extraneous engineering project, designing' a device to launch a satellite, instead of
working on missing assignments. (T., Vol. VIL at 1683; D-24 Bates 000570).

115.

Mis. D. did not know all of the assignments that C.D. was missing or why he was being
~ penalized for late assignments. (T., Vol. IV at 909). She attributed her lack of knowledge about
C.D.’s classes to the fact that she was working full-time and “wasn’t as involved.” (T., Vol. IV at
909). Notably, Mrs. D did not think it was C.D.’s fault that he failed the Internship and Research

class, but she did not know the grading process for the class or C.D.’s grades on specific

-

22 Notably, C.D. does not state that he tried to do the work and had problems. Nor does C.D. state that he had
difficultics with timelines, calendars or initiation. Instead, he honestly admits to not doing the work.
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assignments.” (T., Vol. IV at 966-67). Even while testifying, C.D.’s Mother did not know what
happened to result in C.D.’s failing grade. (T., Vol. 1V at 1052).
116.

Even though C.D. failed the class, Dr. Adams did not think that C.D. was prevented from
Jearning because of any issues with an inability to focus. (T., Vol. VII at 1949). Having taught
students with ADHD for 26 years, Dr. Adams believed C.D. was capable of doing the work. (d.)
Dr. Adams further believed that C.D. learned in the Internship class. (T., Vol. VIl at 1717). For
example, he was able to write a beautifully written cover letter. (T., Vol. VII at 1717). Dr.
Adams believed that C.D. was capable of passing the class. (T., Vol. VII at 1718). Dr. Adams
believed that C.D. had the organizational and social skills to pass the class. (T., Vol. VII at
1718). Dr. Adams believed that C.D. chose not to do the work because he was not interested in
it. She based her opinion on the fact that sometimes he would do excellent work, which
indicated he was capable of good work, when he would do it. (T., Vol. Vil at 1722). Further,
the assignments that C.D. did not complete were not complicated and did not involve significant
ofganizational skills. (T., Vol. VII at 1722-23). Dr. Adams thought C.I>. was capable of turning
in assignments on time because he did turn in a number of assignments on time, such as some
thank you notes and his business cards. (T., Vol. VIL at 1690-91; D-18 Bates 000462).

117.

Dr. Adams also atiend a 504 Meeting in which the Plaintiffs cxpressed concern over the

amount of homework C.D. was doing; however, Dr. Adams did not assign much homewofk, S0

she was not certain what C.D. may have been doing for her class. (T., Vol. VIl at 1712). In Dr.

2 1t appears that some of Mrs. D’s confusion was caused by information that she received from C.D. On December
21, 2012, Mrs. D sent an email fo Dr. Higgins, C.D.’s counselor. In the email, Mrs, D stated that C.D. told her that
he “absolutely did the [final] exams and turned them in.” (D-29 Bates 000946). This is clearly not accurate, as C.D.
did not turn in the final exam. (T., Vol. at 1698; T., Vol. IX at 2094; D-29 Bates 000945).
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Adams’ opinion, based on thirteen years teaching Internship in the High School
Magnet Program, parents’ concern over the amownt of homework would not indicate a need for
special education because these students are very hard working with numerous academic
commitments that may necessitate that work load. (T., Vol Vil at 1713- i4).

118

C.D. admitted that he stopped working on Engincering and Calculus classes during his
senior year, in order to focus on passing English. (T., Vol. IX at 2099-2100).

119.

Ms. Walls, who also taught C.1D. in his junior year, testified about C.D.’s performance in
AP Calculus BC in the spring of his senior year. (T., Vol. Il at 343). Ms. Walls’ opinions
regarding C.D.’s capabilities and learning were based on over 270 hours of observation over the
course of two years. (T., Vol. IX at 2259).

120.

The structure of AP Calculus BC was very similar to C.D.’s previous math class, AP
Calculus AB; however, it included a new sct of concepts. (T., Vol. IX at 2232). The notebook
project, which C.D. did his junior year, was repeated in the senior year class. (T., Vol. IX at
2232). C.D. did not turn in the semester-long, calculus-notebook project for AP Calculus BC,
which resulted in C.D. earning a grade of «41.” (T., Vol. Il at 371). C.D. admitted that he did
not do the caleulus notebook in this class. (T., Vol. IX at 2096). Ms. Walls thought that C.D.
would complete the project based on his demonstrated abilities during his junior year. (T., Vol.
1l at 372). C.D. told Ms. Walls that the project was coming, so she believed, like in C.D.’s junior
year, she would get the assignment. (T., Vol. IX at 2233). However, C.D. chose not to complete

this project because he was focusing on other classes. C.D.’s decision did not surprise Ms.
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Waﬁs, because some of her previous students made similar decisions to stop working on a
difficult clasé that was not'required for graduation. (T, Vol. IX at 2239).
i21.

¢ D. did not refurn to complete tests during his senior year, like he did during his junior
year. (T., Vol. IX at 2235-37). However, he did have moments during the AP Calculus BC class
where he demonstrated Jearning the material and doing well on tests. (Id.). Ms. Walls thought
that C.D.’s overall performance would improve based on these glimpses of C.D.’s success,
which were similar to his junior year. (Id.). |

122.

Ultimately, Ms. Walls described C.D. as very different in his senior year because he was

not doing the work as he did in his junior year. (T.,rVol. IX at 2240).
123.

Despite the lack of work that C.D. completed senior year, Ms. Walls still believed that
C.D. was capable of going to college. (T., Vol. X at 2260). She éxplained that the work he did in
AP Calculus AB was college leve} material, so the fact that he successfully complete those
assignments and learned in that class shows that C.D. is capabie of college level work. (Id.).

124.

In the second semester of C.D.’s senior year, he also failed Mr. Orren Williams’
Engineering Applications class. (P-3 Bates 901). Mr. Williams informed C.D.’s counselor, Ms.
Moudgal, that C.D. would work on other projects on his laptop while he was in Mr. Williams’
class and that the projects were unrelated to Mr. Williams® class. (T., Vol. TI at 449). In Ms.

Moudgal’s opinion, the 504 plan was appropriately implemented, but C.D. made a choice not to
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work on projects for Mr. Williams’ class. (1, ‘Vol. 11 at 449-50). According to Ms. Moudgal, it
was C.D. who did not “meet [his] end of the bargain.” (T., Vol. 1l at 450).
125.

In the spring semester of his senior year, C.D. took Honors World Literature, which was
the last class C.D. needed to graduate high school. (D-103 Bates 002784). Ms. Tara Thompson
(“Ms. Thompson™) was C.D.’s teacher for Honors World Literature. (T., Vol. VIIT at 1968). An
Honors World Literature class involves more wotk and more rigor than an on-level English
class. (T., Vol, VIII at 1966). Specifically, there is a lot of work in the class and the pace moves
fast. (T., Vol. VIIT at 1969). Assignments in the class include a daily journal, writing workshops,
class discussions, and a large senior project. (T., Vol. VIII at 1970).

126.

The senior project is 25% of the class, and for this project, students work with a mentor
to write a rescarch paper through a detailed multi-step process. (T., Vol. VIII at 1971). The
students must spend a minimum of 12 face-to-face hours with their mentor. (/d.} The first
assignment for the senior project is a signed acknowledgement of the failure to meet deadlines,
which informs students that must meet all deadlines of the project. (T., Vol. VIII at 1978). C.D.
completed the assignment acknowledging that he knew the importance of deadlines without
expressing any concern regarding any inability to meet deadlines. (T., Vol. VIII at 1978; D-18
Bates 000472). For the English senior project, students are supposed té choose a different
mentor than the mentor they selected for the Internship and Research classes. (T., Vol. VIII at
2008). C.D., however, used the exact same picture of him and his mentor from the Internship
and Research classes, for his English senior project. He did this because he did not actually get a

mentor for the English senior project. (T, Vol. VIIT at 2008, 2040-41; D-25 Bates 000580). C.D.
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did not submit the mentor verification for senior project, which, in part, resulted in him failing
English. (T, Vol. VIII at 2009). A big reason that C.D. did not pass English and did not
graduate was the fact that he did not have a mentor for the genior project. (T., Vol VIII at 2020).
C.D. did not tell Ms. Thonipson {hat he did not have a mentor for the senior project until after the A
class was over. (T. Vol. VIII at 2041).

127.

Despite not having a mentor, C.D. completed some patts of the senior project, but it was
10t the best quality. (T, Vol. VI at 1985). C.D. acknowledged that one of the reasons he faited
Honors World Literature was because he did not complete the senior project. (T Vol. IX at
2097).

128.

Even though, at the time, C.D.’s 504 plan did not include extended time for homework or
assignments, Ms. Thompson gave C.D. extended time. (T, Vol. VIII at 1981-82). She also had
one-on-one conferences with him, notified C.D. of the assignments that he needed to complete
and provided him with revised due dates, and sent emails to C.D.’s parents notifying them of the
missing assignments and revised due dates. (T., Vol. VIl at 1982). Unfortunately, C.D. also
missed the revised due dates as well. (Id.)

129,

As an example of the type of assignment that CD. failed to complete, Ms. Thompson
described a project where students had to define twenty words and identify the parts of speech.
(T., Vol. VIII at 1983). C.D. did not do the assignment nor did he provide an cxcuse for not

doing it. (T, Vol. VIII at 1983).
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130.

Ms. Thompson thought that C.D. had the skill set to do the work in her class based on the
work that C.D. completed in her class. (T., Vol. VIII at 1985). For example, C.D. successfully
completed a research paper and had thoughtful, analytical responses in class discussions. (T.,
Vol. VIII at 1985-86). C.D. also did well on an assignment where he had to give an 8-10 minute
speech. (T., Vol. VIII at 1989-90). In that speech, C.I>. had to create a plan for the pi'esentation
and be informed about the content he would discuss. (T., Vol. VIII at 1991). He was able to
complete this presentation without extended time. (T., Vol. VIIL at 1992}.

131.

More specifically, Ms. Thompson did not think that C.D. needed special education
because he was successful on a number of the assignments, even assignments involving multiple
parts, steps, and instructions, like a research paper or speech. (T., Vol. VIII at 1989-91, 2011-12).
As further evidence of C.D.’s abilities, C.D. was able to complete his portion of a group project
where the students had to create a website about literary concepts. (T., Vol. VIII at 2003; D-78
Bates 001389-001402). C.D. created a Venn diagram for the project which was better than any
other student in the class. (T., Vol. VIII at 2004-05). As the group’s vice-president, C.D.
displayed leadership qualities in getting the group to complete their project. (T., Vol VHI at
2006).

132.

Ms. Thompson described the manner in which C.D. turned in assignments as “VERY
inconsistent.” (D-31 at Bates 000988). However, the work that he did turn in was “well done.”
(T., Vol. VIII at 2019). Thus, Ms. Thompson believed C.D. was capable of doing the work. (T,

Vol. VIIT at 2019). Ms. Thompson attempted to motivate C.D. to complete the work by speaking
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directly with him. (T., Vol. VIIT at 2049). C.D., then, told Ms. Thompson that he was going t©
furn in assignments and do better. (T, Vol VIII at 2050).
133.

The final exam in Ms. Thompson’s class was 2 Socratic seminar, which had an oral and
written component. (T., Vol. VIiI at 1998-2000). Prior to the exam, the students had to read the
Joy of Reading and Wiiting in order to answer Qocratic questions in class with textual support
and literary language. (T., Vol. Vil at 1999-2000).

134

Ou the last day of school, C.D. initiated a conversation with Ms. Thompson as he turned
in a large stack of late assigmmants.24 (T., Vol. VIII at 2(72-73). In that conversation, C.D-
explained that e had a plan for doing better and staying organized. (T., Vol. VI at 2073). He
also stated that he was going to Europe over the summer © visit his girlfriend and would attend
MIT at some point. (T., Vol. VIII at 2073).

135.

Ms. Thompson did not observe C.D. have issues with organization, planning oF focus
which prevented him from learning. (T., Vol. VIII at 2027). Tnstead, Ms. Thompson observed
that C.D. seemed to decide which assignments he wanted to turn in and those that he chose not to
complete. (T Vol, VIII at 2027). Ultimately, Ms.'Thompson believed C.D. was able to learn
because he demonstrated a comprehension of much of the curriculum and he was able to follow

instructions. (T, Vol. Vill at 2076-77).

o
# ps, Thompson accepted the late assignments and gave C.D. partial credit, even though her class had officially
ended. (T., Vol Viilat 1981-82, 2026).
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136.

When Ms. Thompson emailed Mr, D. about missing assignments and the possibility that
C.D. would fail English, Mr. D. responded by thanking her for the information and noted that
C.D.’s focus should improve because of a change in medication. (T., Vol. VIII at 2014; D-31
Bates 000982-000984). Mr. D. further stated that C.D. may be having difficulty in class because
his grandmother had been sick and just passed. (T., Vol. VIII at 2014; D-31 Bates 000984). M.
D’s email said nothing about C.D. spending hours at the kitchen table struggling to complete the
work; in fact, Mr. D claimed that C.D. had not turned in an assignment because of a broken
printer. (T., Vol. VIII at 2015-16; D-31 Bates 000984). Thus, not even Mr. D provided Ms.
Thompson with any information that C.D. could not do the assignments or learn the material, and
instead, Mr. D’s communication further supports Ms. Thompson’s belief that C.D. could do the
work when he wanted t0.”

137.

Finally, regarding C.D.’s capabilities, Ms. Thompson concurred with ail the other
teachers that C.D. would not need an assisted living facility, even if his parents thought it
necessary. (T., Vol. VIII at 2027).

138.

Ms. Sumana Moudgal (“Ms. Moudgal®) was C.D.’s counselor in twelfth grade. (T., Vol.
1T at 433). Ms. Moudgal instructed C.D.’s teachers to “cc” C.D.’s father on all communications
to C.D. regarding his lack of effort or what he needs to be doing. (T., Vol. II at 445). Ms.

Moudgal noted that C.D.’s lack of work and failing grades in his senior year wetre being

% Though there was testimony that C.I). was working hard and not deliberately being defiant, Mrs. D testified that
when it was time to do homework, C.D. sometimes engaged in behavior such as dropping his pencil, going to the
bathroom, and gefting water, instead of starting his homework. (T., Vol. 1V at 1039). These behaviors appear to be
more indicative of homework avoidance, as opposed to organization problems.
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communicated to the Plaintiffs, the 504 Plan was being implemented, and the school was nof
hearing émything different from the parents. (T., Vol. Ii at 462). Nevertheless, the work was still
not getting done; therefore, Ms. Moudgal assu@ed that the issue was the student’s lack of effort.
(ld.)
139.
Nonetheless, a 504 Meeting was held on October 16, 2012 for C.D. (D-11 Bates 000351-
60). In this meeting C.I). admitted that he was procrastinating in regards to doing assigmnen’ts.26
(D-11 Bates 000357). C.D. also admitted that he did not study during his senior year. (D-11
Bates 000358). Mt. D admitted that C.D. would tell him and Mrys. D that he did not have any
homework and then a week before the due date they would find out that a semester’s worth of
work was due. (D-11 Bates 000357). Furthermore, it was communicated that extended time on
tests was working. (D-11 Bates 000357). Finally, Plaintiffs submitted a medical evaluation to
the District which noted that the ADHD prognosis was good. (D-11 Bates 000360).
140.
As a result of that meeting, C.D.’s 504 Plan was modified to include the following
accommodations:

¢ Extended time on all exams at 100%;

¢ Student will be provided with a copy of the classroom notes or lecture material via email,
hard copy, or access to blog;

e  Student is allowed to audio tape classes (must inform teacher prior to taping); and

¢ Math only — a reduction in the number or amount of homework problems. For example,
only even or odd problems. This accommodation will be met without compromising the
content of the curriculum. Homework content will be determined by the teacher prior to
assignment.

%6 Notably, C.D. did not say that he was overwhelmed or that he could not do the work.
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D-11 Baies 000356). Dr. Kinard, the District’s expert, opined that the 504 Plan that was in
place as of October, 2012 was appropriate. (T., Vol. Vil at 1821).
| 141.
A second 504 mecting was held on May 2, 2013. (D-11 Bates 000362). As a result of that
meeting, C.D.’s 504 Plan was modified to include the following accommodations:

e FExtended time on all exams at 100%;

o Extended time on all homework and at home projects at 100%;

« Guided notes will be provided to the student and parents for all subjects;

o Projects or large assignments will be chunked into manageable groups with individual
timelines and due dates;

« Audiotape course lectures;

e All communication regarding grades, assignments, due dates, and/or course progress will
be sent to the parents via email; and

o Homework reduction for all assignments (math — students can complete even or odd
problems as pre—detcrmined by the instruction; reduction in daily homework assignments
for other assignments as pre—determined by the instructor).

(D-11 Bates 000367). This 504 Plan was created with only a few wecks remaining in the
semester and did not apply retroactively. (Id).
142.

In that meeﬁng, the team noted that C.D. was not returning to utilize extra time on tests.
However, at the hearing, as Ms. Moudgal noted that it is not the school district’s responsibility to
manage 2 student’s after-class schedule. (T., Vol. Tl at 452).

143.

fn conjunction with the May 504 Meeting, the District conducted a Direct Parent Referral

Meeting to begin the special education process at the Plaintiffs’ request. (D-11 Bates 000368).

Plaintiffs obtained legal representation before their request for special education services. (T,
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Vol. IV at 914). During the Direct Parent Referral, among other things, Mrs. D requested a
reduction in the amount of homework. (D-11 Bates 000372).
C. C.D. Was Found Eligible for IDEA Services at the End of His Senior Year.
[44.

Dr. Deckelbaum, Plaintiffs’ independent psychologist, conducted her evaluation in April,
2013. (T., Vol. V at 1156). Plaintiffs had the results of their private psychological evaluation
around the end of May or beginning of June (T., Vol, IV at 970). Dr. Deckelbaun recommended
that Plaintiffs provide the District with a copy of the evaluation. (T., Vol. V at 1237). Plaintiffs
did not provide this evaluation to the District until the eligibility meeting in September, 2013;
thus, they had the information to help the District help C.D. but did not provide it for almost five
months. (T., Vol. TV at 1071).

145.

Ms. Jamie Davies (“Ms. Davies”), a Special Education Supervisor for the District,
participated in the eligibility meeting for C.D. on September 3, 2013, (T., Vol. 1T at 313-15).
Ms. Davies had no involvement, whatsoever, in C.D.’s high school education. (T., Vol. II at
314), Notably, Ms. Davies stated that she found him eligible for special education because C.D.
did not turn in class work as a result of his ADHD. (T., Vol. II at 318). Specifically, the
assistance needed, according to Ms. Davies, was with completing assignments. (T., Vol. IT at
323). However, Ms. Davies acknowledged that she would not necessarily include an objective in
the IEP specific to homework, as it is difficult for teachers to ensure that students will complete

their homework.”” (T., Vol. II at 334). In making her decision, Ms. Davics only reviewed

" She further acknowledged that putting incentives on completing homework could be accomplished through an
instructional practice. (T., Vol. II at 334). In other words, it is something that did not necessarily require an IEP.
({d.) Notably, the other measures that could be used to encourage homework completion, such as having an agenda
signed so that the assignments are known and communication with parents regarding assignments, were instructional
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current functioning, which was based on data collected at the end of C.D.’s senior year, the
private evaluation, the County evaluation, and C.D.’s transcript. (T., Vol. at 323-24).
146.
To be specific, Ms. Davies stated that the eligibility team found C.D. to be eligible based
solely on his performance during senior year:

Q: And you said that the way you saw C.D. was that he was stmgglmg,
significantly struggling in high school; correct?

A With what I was locking at from his senior year. (T., Vol, Il at 336)

While the eligibility team did consider information from Ms. Walls on C.D.’s present
level of performance, the information Ms. Walls provided was based solely on the last six
months of her interactions with C.D. (T., Vol. Il at 338; T., Vol. IX at 2330). Further, eligibility
s based on current functioning and does not apply retroactively. (T., Vol. III at 550).

147.

Dr. Elizabeth Turnage (“Dr. Turnage”) is the District’s Director of Legal and Policy for
Special Students Services. (T., Vol. III at 540). She attended C.D.’s eligfbility meeting. (T,
Vol. III at 543). During the eligibility meeting, Dr. Turnage was responsible for answering
questions regarding 504 Plans and IEPs. (T., Vol. III at 543). Dr. Turnage noted that the
eligibility team, ultimately, found C.D. eligible for special education services, but that Dr.
Turnage disagreed with that decision. (T., Vol. I1I at 546).

148.
During the eligibility meeting, Mr. D stated, as follows:

Right now, if . . . God forbid something was to happen to us — he would need to
be in [an] assisted living home because he would not be able to function on his

practices that had previously been implemented with little success. (See T., Vol. 1T at 334-35; T., Vol, TV at 898-99;
T., Vol. IV at 1054-55; D-29 Bates 000945; T., Vol. VIL at 1982). Alternatively, these measures can be
implemented through a 504 plan. (See D-11 Bates 000367).
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own without somebody to tell him to get up, somebody to tell him what he needs
to do and monitor throughout that situation.

(J-1 at Part 3 18:10-18:28; see also T., Vol. Il at 551). Mrs. D reiterated this sentiment during
the hearing.  (T., Vol. IV at 975).”® Even C.D., incredibly, stated that he could not live
independently. (T., Vol. IX at 2173). He went so far as to describe himself as “helpless.”® (T.,
Vol. IX at 2175). Amazingly, after testifying about his helplessness, C.D. explained to this
tribunal the science behind satellite engineering, (T., Vol, IX at 2177-80).*°

149.

Dr. Laurel Kinard (“Dr. Kinard™) testified as the District’s expert witness and is the
Director of Student Assistancé Programs with the County School District, having
conducted 2,000-3,000 student evaluations and reviewed over 5,000 evaluations. (T., Vol. VII at
1784-86). Additionally, in instances when she has not conducted ihe evaluation, she has formed
opinions regarding students’ disabilities by reviewing evaluations and educational records. (T.,
Vol. VIl at 1800). She has done this between 700 and 1000 times. (Id.)

150.
In reviewing this information for C.D. she found the following:

o the Parents rated C.D.’s ADHD as being more severe in the home setting than the school
setting; _

¢ C.D. is a bright young man with above average intelligence and academic skills;

* Some of the psychological evaluation reflects that C.D. is in the average range regarding
ADHD and executive functioning;

* Other indicators in the psychological evaluation showed a more significant disability; and

e C.D. was able to perform above-average on standardized tests.

% Despite their belief that C.D. needed an assistive living facility, they were willing to atlow C.D. to attend MIT in
Boston, Massachusetts if he had been accepted. (T., Vol. IV at 976)
29 . . D . . .

There is no evidence that C.D. ever expressed a similar sentiment to any of his teachers or his counselors.
3 Additionalty, during the hearing C.D. was able to assist his counsel with information pertaining to each witness.
Specifically, he was able to provide her with five to ten bullet points per witness. (T., Vol. IX at 2159).
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(T., Vol. VII at 1799-1800-1812). Based on C.D.’s standardized test scores, final grades, and
educational records, Dr. Kinard opined that C.D. did not need specialized instruction at any point
in ninth through eleventh grade. (T., Vol. VII at 1814). Even if C.D. was consistently turning in
work late during this period, C.D. did not need specialized instruction because he was obviously
learning. (T., Vol. Vil at 1815).

151.

Dr. Kinard testified that C.D.’s failure to complete assignments in the Internship and
Research class, which resulted in him failing the class and losing his magnet seal, would not
independently merit eligibility for special -education services. (T., Vol. VII at 1818).
Specifically, Dr. Kinard, in her opinion, stated that the pattern of turning in work late in order to
get enough credit to pass a class would not necessitate special education. Further, his strong
performance on assessments was evidence that C.ID. was learning. (T, Vol. VILat 1819).

152.

Assuming that there was a decline in C.D.’s performance during the first semester of his
senior year, Dr. Kinard opined that appropriate course of action would be to have the teacher of
the particular class talk to him and discuss the issue with the 504 team to se¢ if any additional
supports should be implemented. (T., Vol. VII at 1820). In Dr. Kinard’s opinion, the
accommodations in the October 2012 504 Plan were appropriate to accommodate C.D.’s pattetn
of turning in work late. (T., Vol. VIl at 1821). |

153.

Based on C.D.’s educational records, Dr. Kinard opined that C.D. had significantly more

trouble the second semester of senior year than any other time in his educational history. (T.,

Vol. VII at 1821-22). Dr. Kinard farther noted, based on her 19 years of experience in a high
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schools, that seniors will have challenging transitions in preparing for college, planning for the
fature, and experiencing new social issues. (T., Vol. VII at 1823). Nevertheless, Dr. Kinard
opined that the 504 team could have addressed the issues without special education. (T., Vol. VII
at 1823), In reviewing the 504 Plan from May, 2013, Dr, Kinard believed that those
accommodations could appropriately support C.D. because the extended time was expanded to
include projects and homework., (T., Vol. VIII at 1824).

154.

Dr. Kinard disagrees with the decision to find C.D. eligible. (T., Vol. VII at 1873).
Further, Dr. Kinard believed that the recommendations of the school district’s psychologist were
not necessary for C.D. to learn. (T., Vol. VII at 1889). Ultimately, Dr. Kinard opined that C.D.
could access his education based on his grades and standardized test scores; thus, specialized
education was never necessary, even in twelfth grade because the accommodations of the 504
Plans could address any issues C.D. had with ﬁmeliness and organization. (T., Vol. VIl at 1824-
25).

I55.

Despite being found cligible for special education, PIaintiffé refused to agree to the proposed
IEP because they demand more than even their own psychologist recommended. (T., Vol. V at
1084-1093).

D. C.D. Does Not Graduate High School through the Virtual Academy.

156,
The only class that C.D. needs to pass in order to graduate is a world literature class. (T.,

Vol IV at 918; T., Vol. IX at 2100). Plaintiffs paid $550 to enroll C.D. in the English class
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through Virtual Academy (CVA)*! over the summer. (T., Vol. IV at 918). C.D. had
on-line assignments to complete, but C.D. had difficulty in knowing how to submit his
assignments. (T., Vol. IV at 920). Ironically, C.D.’s mother described C.D. as being successful
in a similarly structured environment, where in AP Physics C.D. was given specific assignments
to complete on-line. (T., Vol. IV at 876). More specifically, she stated, “you put him in a room
with a computer and he can learn a lot of things.” (T., Vol. IV at 961).

157.

C.D. independently did the work that was turned in for the summer CVA English class.
(T., Vol IV at 1059-60). C.D. completed 11 assignmenis of 49 assignments in the summer CVA
class. (D-17 Bates 000455-56). Of those 11, he earned 10 A’s and 1 B. (/d). Thus, when C.D.
did the work, he was capable of demonstrating learning. Interestingly, all 11 assignments were
submitted over 6 days. (D-AI7; Bates 000458). Thus, C.D.’s work over the summer consisted of
six days of participation.

158.

C.D. withdrew from the CVA class, not because of his executive functioning disorder,
but because of a summer cold. (T., Vol. IV at 1060; T., Vol. IX at 2133). This.cold affected
C.D.’s asthma, which resulted in him not being able to complete the work necessitating
withdrawing from the class. (T., Vol. IV at 1060).

159.

In addition, C.D. took a “graduation” mission trip to Romania, where he stayed with his

girlfriend’s family. (T., Vol. IV at 921-22). C.D. thought he would be able to complete the

course despite going to Europe for three weeks. (T., Vol. IX at 2146-48). .

' CVA is the virtual academy where students can take on-line classes. (T., Vol. II at 459),
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160.

C.D. also stated that he failed to complete the CVA assignments because when left at
home alone, while his parents were at work, C.D. would get distracted, play with the dog, draw,
or watch TV instead of working on the class. (T., Vol. IX at 2153).

| 161.

Having failed to complete the CVA class in the summer, C.D. reenrolled for the fall CVA
course and is currently enroiled in that courée. (T., Vol. IV at 923). C.D.’s Mother claims that
C.D. lacks the ability to “make himself do the work” in order to pass the CVA class. (T., Vol. IV
at 924). Notably, this curriculum is chunked into weekly assignments, (D-14 Bates 000436-39).
Despite the fact that C.D. had previously completed some of these assignments as a senior at

High School and the fact that he had completed 11 of the assignments during the
summer course, as of September 6, 2013, C.D. had not submitted a single assignment for the fall
CVA English class. (D-14 000442-44). To explain why, C.D. claims to be unable to do the CVA
work because he is too focused on this litigation. (T., Vol. IX at 2132). In fact, C.D. admitted,
“I’ve kind of put CVA on the back burner.” (T., Vol. IX at 2145).

E. Plaintiffs’ Requested Relief.
162.

The relief requested by Plaintiffs is indicative of their expectation that C.D. should have
lived up to his potential. (T., Vol. III at 714). Furthermore, some of the relief requested would
not have addressed one of C.D.’s main problems (i.e., homework completion). Finally, the
executive functioning training that Plaintiffs seck fiom Ms. Kamath is not research based and is

not used by other specialists in her field.
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163.

Ms. Kamath’s plan is to provide for optimal functi011i11g, as follows:

Q: What are the educational goals you are talking about?

A: To optimaily function by compensating for the disability.

(T., Vol. IlI at 734).
164.

Similarly, Dr. Deckelbaum testified that the problem with executive functioning disorder
is that students fail to perform to their potential. (T., Vol. V at 1157). Specifically referring to
C.D., Dr. Deckelbaum testificd that different accommodations would have allowed him to fulfill
his botential:

Q: So you’re saying live up to his full potential had he been able to turn in his

grades — his homework — late; is that correct?

A One aspect of what would have enabled him to perform up to his
potential.
(T., Vol. V at 1205-06). She further stated, “My goal when I evaluate children is to help them
live up to their potential.” (T., Vol. V at 1233). As such, Dr. Deckelbaum’s recommendations
were based on the assumption that C.D. was going to college. (T., Vol. V at 1162). In any event,
she based her testimony and recommendations on her hope that C.D. could meet his true
potential.
165,

Plaintiffs alleged that an IEP would have been necessary for C.D.’s entire academic
career. However, Ms. Davies testified that she did not think an IEP would have “even been
needed” before the time that C.D. was actually found eligible. (T., Vol. IL At 332).

Furthermore, Ms. Davies testified that an IEP, focusing on homework completion, may not be

feasible because homework is outside of the control of a classroom teacher. (T., Vol. II at 334).
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166.

Plaintiffs assert that Ms. Kamath or someone like her is necessary to teach C.D. executive
functioning skills. Notably, Ms. Kamath has not tested C.D. (T., Vol. Il at 572). Ms. Kamath’s
recommendation is to address “C.D.’s needs beyond academics...” (T, Vol. III at 586).
Ultimately, Ms. Kamath based her opinion on the steps necessary for C.D. to achieve in college.
(T., Vol. Il at 662).

167.

Ms. Kamath’s plan for teaching executive functioning skills begins day 1 with having
C.D. connect dots to count to 12 and spell “PARROT.” (T., Vol. Il at 658). Ms. Kamath stated
that this plan is necessary because C.D. lacks the “mentalmusc_:le” to perform “ten minutes” of
“complex tasks requiring attentional regulation and working memory”. (T., Vol. 11T at 658).
Ms. Kamath believes that C.D. will be successful in her program, despite only a 75% success
rate, because of the “vibes” she got from C.D. during her only interaction with him. (T., Vol. HI
at 693). In a.ctuality, Ms. Kamath does not know if C.D. would be successful in her program.
(T., Vol. IIT at 693-94). At present, Ms. Kamath does not actually have a formal plan or program
for C.D. (T., Vol. Tl at 737-38}.

168.
Ms. Kamath acknowledges that executive function training is a “novel field, and not very

well understood.” (T., Vol. III at 695). No other executive functioning specialists use Ms.

2 ¢f. with C.D.’s ability to participate in the cross-sxamination of witnesses during this litigation. (T. Vol. IX at
2157-60).
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Kamath’s programs, and her programs are not scientifically researched-based. (T., Vol. III at
703-08).%
169.

C.D. admitted that he did not need Ms. Kamath to pass his sole remaining English class.
(T., Vol. IX at 2144).

170.

Regarding Plaintiffs’ demand for two years of compensatory education, Ms. Kamath
testified that the time at which executive functioning training should begin can vary. (T., Vol. TII
at 751-52). Specifically, she stated that the connection between ADHD and executive
functioning disorder can vary, but that the “number one” factor for determining intervention is
when “the gap between potential and performance becomes s0 wide that it affects many areas.”
(T., Vol. Il at 752). Based on C.D.’s transcripts and test scotes, 1o such gap existed until the
end of C.D.’s senior year, at which point the District found him eligible for services under IDEA.

171.

Dr. Kinard opined that C.D. did not need any specialized instruction with regard to
executive functioning skills because he was able to demonstrate learning through standardized
tests and final grades. (T., Vol. VII at 1824-26). Even when C.D. was failing in the spring
semester of his senior year, Dr. Kinard did not think that C.D. needed specialized instruction
because he should have been able to access his education with tlhe 504 Plan which was in place.

(T., Vol. VII at 1825).

33 Bven if this tribunal were to decide that C.D. was entitled to some relief, which it has not, Ms. Kamath’s novel
approach, which is not used by other professionals in the field and is not research-based, would not be the relief
ordered.
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172.

Plaintiffs demand 720 hours of compensatory executive functioning training, which is
two houts a day for two years. (T, Vol. IIT at 640-41, 665). Plaintiffs presented no substantive
testimony establishing C.D..’s need for this amount of compensatory education. In fact, when
asked about the 720 hours, Ms. Kamath testified that she was “not 100 percent sure about the
“number.” (T., Vol. LIl at 641). Without providing any substantive basis, she later testified, “to
me sounds that it probably can come close to it.” (Id. at 641). However, Ms. Kamath testified
that on average her work with clients only lasts for a year with only three meetings per week,
which would equate to approximately 150 hours. (See T., Vol. Il at 805).

173.

Plaintiffs also seck grade recovery. Specifically, C.D.’s Mother stated that they want
C.D. to qualify for the HOPE Scholarship. (T., Vol. IV at 998-1001; T., Vol. V at 1105-06).
Though C.D.’s Mother stated that their desire for grade recovery was $0 that C.D.’s transcript
would reflect his work completed, it is clear that the underlining motivation is the HOPE
scholarship. ( Cf Vol. 1V at 995-1001 and P-A at 00:21:40-00:22:00). Specifically, in the May,
2013 meeting, Mrs. D stated, “that’s really our — right now our — big concern is that he graduate
with a 3.0 so that he gets HOPE.” (P-A at 01:54:15-01:54:23).

F. Plaintiffs’ Experts, Plaintiffs’ Characterization of C.D., and the Nature of C.D.’s
Disability.

174.
Ms. Sucheta Kamath (“Ms. Kamath”) is a speech language pathologist, who testified as
Plaintiffs’ expert witness. (T., Vol. 11T at 553). Her degrees are not in executive functioning
disorder. (T., Vol. IIT at 556-57). Dr. Sara Deckelbaum (“Dr. Deckelbaum™) is a clinical

psychologist, who testified as Plaintiffs’ expert witness. (T., Vol. V at 1148).
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175.

Ms. Kamath described executive functioning disorder as “addressing a person’s ability to
maintain or initiate success in their own life by setting goals.” (T., Vol. III at 559). Ms. Kamath
analogized executive functioning disorder to situation in a trash bag commercial, where the trash
bag collapsed every time trash was thrown into it.” (T., Vol. I1I at 583-85).

176.

Ms. Kamath further described executive functioning disorder as the inability to complete
multi-step tasks, such as would be required in international wavel’®. (T., Vol. IIT at 613). Ms.
Kamath described C.D. as being unable to mqnitor the passage of time. (T., Vol. 1T at 573-77).
Notwithstanding those descriptions, Ms. Kamath testified that C.D. is cutrently capable of
producing projects for class because of his academic ability. (T., Vol. 1l at 670-71).

177.

Ms. Kamath has not tested or evaluated C.D. (T., Vol. 11l at 572). Furthermore, Ms.
Kamath’s opinion was based on two telephone calls with C.D.’s parents, a three and a half hour
interview with C.D. and his pareats, which took place five days before she testified, and her
review of selected records provided by Elaintiffs’ counsel.®® (T., Vol. Il at 574; 711, 717-19).
Ms. Kamath did not speak with any of C.D.’s teachers. (T., Vol. Til at 721). Nor has Ms.
Kamath observed C.D. inan educational setting. (T., Vol. 1l at 722).

178.

It should be first noted that Plaintiffs spoke very highly of C.D.’s teachers and stated that

the teachers taught what they were supposed to teach. (T., Vol. TIT at 716). Furthermore, Ms.

Kamath, Plaintiffs’ executive functioning expert witness, stated “1 think it is difficult to make the

3 Jronically, C.D. traveled internationally to Romania after Plaintiffs filed the Complaint in this matter.

35 Ms. Kamath testified that Plaintiffs’ counsel reviewed the records with her and pointed out specific records. (T.,
Vol. I at 719).
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connection that what you sec is executive functioning disorder.” (T., Vol. 1II at 731). Thus,
according to Plaintiffs’ expert, recognizing executive functioning disorder is difficult. ({d.).
179.

When asked how C.D.’s teachers should know that C.D. required special education,
especially in light of his transcripts and standardized test scores, Ms. Kamath could not provide
any observable behavior that would have triggered a suspicion that C.D. needed special
education. (T., Vol. III-at 747-49; 755). After much prompting, Ms. Kamath finally provided
two criteria that teachers éhould have observed, (T., Vol. IIL at 772-73). According to Ms.
Kamath, teachers should recognize that inconsistent performance and fajlure to follow casual
suggestions as indicators of exccutive functioning disorder. (T., Vol. Il at 772-72). Further, Ms.
Kamath opined that every student who does not turn in assignments may possibly have executive
functioning disorder and that every student who has executive functioning disorder requires
special education. (T., Vol. 1 at 773-75}.

180.

Regarding the hidden nature of the disability, Mother testified C.D. would not ask for
help as part of his disability. (T., Vol. 1V at 895; 1027-28). In fact, Plaintiffs only communication
to the District; describing C.D.’s problems with following instruction consisted of one comment
per year at the 504 meeting and possibly a few phone conversations. (T., Yol. V at 1082).
Plaintiffs had no record of any email communications in which they informed ;my of C.D.’s
teachers or counselors of his problems following instructions or troubles with executive

functioning disorder. (T, Vol. V at 1082).
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181.

Furthermore, Ms. Kamath offered contradictory testimony about C.D.’s behavioss. She
testified that the way in which C.D.’s exccutive functioning disorder manifests is that he can do
work when prompted but would not initiate independent behaviors of studying. (T., Vol. IIT at
763-64). Further, Ms. Kamath testified that students with executive functioning disorder cannot
consistently demonstrate their knowledge; however, Ms. Kamath testified that C.D. could
demonstrate his knowledge through standardized tests and his final grades. (T., Vol, Il at 765).
In explaining this answet, Ms. Kamath stated that a mere question on a test would be all the
prompting C.D. would need to engage in the academics of learning. (T, Vol. IIT at 767j. Though
Ms. Kamath testified that C.D.’s executive functioning disorder prevents C.D. from initiating
independent behaviors of studying, Ms. Kamath described C.D.’s engineering project, stating
that C.D. “worked relentlessly on it and that the project required “complex engineering  and
“deep understanding of the technicalities.” (T., Vol. IiI at 770-71; D-24 Bates 000570). Ms.
Kamath desctibed this project as 2 “yolitional demonstration of knowledge.” (T., Vol. [il at
772).%¢

182.

Though Mrs. D. insisted that the only reason C.D. succeeded in school was parental
support at home, she admitted that he independently took tests in class, earning high marks on
those tests, as an indicator of his ability to learn information in the classroom. (T., Vol. IV at

1003-04).

I

36 s, Kamath, then, tried to explain how this “yolitional demonstration of knowledge” was actually an indicator of
executive functioning disorder because the work done on this project was a defriment to his other classes; however,
she could never explain how fo rectify her statement that C.D.’s executive functioning prevented him from initiating
tasks but he initiated this task. (T., Vol. L at 77 1-73)
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183.

Dr. Deckelbaum testified that C.D.’s diagnosis was “straight-forward.” (T., Vol. V at
1161). However, she is a trained psychologist who specializes in assessments. (T., Vol. V at
1150). She provided no testimony regarding what the educators should have seen 0 recognize
C.D.’s disability. More specifically, Dr. Deckelbaum testified that the parents’ rating may have
been elevated over the teachers’ ratings because of the difference between a home environment
and a classroom setting. (T., Vol. V at 1185).

184.

Dr. Deckelbaum stated that C.D.’s deficit is not “{earning.” (T., Vol. V at 1187). She
opined that C.D. could “sit in a vacuum and probably learn a good bit of the information he was
taught.” (T., Vol. V at 1187). Dr. Deckelbaum further testified that based on C.D.’s passing
grades C.D. must have learned the curriculum in advanced classes at the High School
Magnet Program. (T., Vol. V at 1207-08).

185.

C.D. did not exhibit'_problems with social skills. Ms. Wallzs observed C.ID. socializing
with friends before school. (T, Vol. II at 356). C.D. conversed with friends ﬁbout common
interests, such as computers and robotics. (T., Vol. II at 374). Ms. Santelli observed C.D.
socialize with fiiends when the class completed its work. (T, Vol. VI at 1325). Mr. George did
a0t observe any social problems with C.D., even though his classes consisted of ninth through
twelfth graders. (T., Vol. V1 at 1500)., C.D. spent some Friday nights with friends playing
PFrisbee and going to movies. (T, Vol. TV at 986). During these events, C.D. was unsupervised

fiom the end of school untit 11pm. Jd.).
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186.

C.D. did not exhibit behavioral problems. (T., Vol. V at 1158; T., Vol. Vil at 1721). Nor

was there any evidence that C.D. had any problems with communication skiils.
187.

Dr. Deckelbaum described executive functioning as a consteliation of skills that generally
develop during childhood and adolescence that people reguire for daily tasks; it consists of,
primatily, bebavioral regulation, such as impulse and emotional confrol, and meta-cognition
which is planning and organization. (T., Vol. V at 1152-53). Dr. Deckelbaum described
someone with executive function disorder as a headless chicken. (T., Vol. Vat 1153).

188.

The DSM-5 does not contain executive functioning disorder as an independent diagnosis.
(T., Vol. Tl at 801). Executive functioning disorder is merely a symptom of ADHD. (T., Vol. T
at 751; 756; 775-76). ADHD is a disability in which the prominent symptoms are inattention,
hyperactivity, and impulsivity that interfore with functioning across settings. (T., Vol VV at
1151).

189.

Ms. Kamath is not qualified to diagnosis ADHD. (T., Vol. 1l at 702). Evenifa student
is diagnosed with ADHD or executive functioning disorder, that student may still be capable of
staying focused in a general cducation sefting without an IEP, may following instructions in a
general education setting without an [EP, may initiate tasks in a general education setting
without an IEP, and may complete tasks in a general education setting without an IEP. (T., Vol.

VII at 1894).
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190. -

C.D.’s Father asserts that C.D. lacks the skill set to be successful in college because he

lacks the ability to focus, prioritize, and turn in assignments. (T., Vol. I'at 216).
191.

During the eligibility meeting, Father stated that if C.D. were left alone, he would need
an assisted living facility because C.D. would not be able to get out of bed, feed himself, or care
for himself. (T., Vol. IIT at 551). C.D.’s Mother agreed that if C.D. was left alone, even with
money provided, he would need an assisted living home because C.D. lacks the skills to live
independently. (T, Vol. IV at 975).%

192.

Plaintiffs described C.D.’s workspace at home as a messy desk or the kitchen table. (T,
Vol. TV at 856). C.D.’s Mother described C.D. as deliberately avoiding studying at home by
dropping his pencil, getting water, or going to the bathroom for a long time.r (T., Vol. IV at
1039). Ms. Kamath stated C.D.’s explanation for not completing homework was that he would
either stare off or surf the internet. (T., Vol. I at 725).

193.

Plaintiffs’ testimony regarding the signs of C.D.’s executive functioning disorder, which

his teachers presumably should have recognized; include the following:

» Losing his agenda several times throughout his high school career (T., Vol. IV at 899);
‘e Not attending a math tutorial session in tenth grade (T., Vol. IV at 898);

7 The undersigned did not find Plaintiffs’ characterization of C.D. to be credible. The balance of the evidence
reveals that C.D. may be somewhat unorganized, but is otherwise a very capable individual who can get from class
to class, get lunch, maintain a relationship over the internet with a girl in Romania, participate in extracurricular
activities, turn in well-done assignments when he puts forth the effort, and solder custom guitar pedals for Mr.
George's company without incident.
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o Having failing grades at some point in the semester in several of his classes (T., Vol. v
at 875)"%;

e Maintaining a messy book bag (T, Vol. IV at 856);

s Needing someone {0 schedule appointments for him to get haireuts (T., Vol. V at 1125);

o Having a messy desk in his room (T., Vol. IV at 856); and
o Spending long hours on homework. (T., Vol. IV at 851).

194,

Dr. Deckelbaum testified that she thought C.D. lacked the exccutive functioning skills to
graduate high school, even though C.D. had met all graduation requirements except for passing
one English class. (T., Vol. V at 1229).

III. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1.

The purpose of the Individuals with Disabilities Act (“IDEA”) is, in part, “to ensure that
all children with disabilities have available to them a free appropriate public education that
emphasizes special education and related services designed to meet their unique needs and
prepare them for further education, employment, and independent living.” 20 US.C. §
1400(d)(1)(A); 34 C.F.R. § 300.1(a); Ga. Comp. R. & Regs. 160-4-7-.01(1)(a).

2.

IDEA cnables parents, or a student who has reached the age of majority, to bring
challenges to the “identification, evaluation, of educational placement of the child, or the
provision of a free appropriate education to [the] child” by filing a due process complaint. 20
U.S.C. § 1415(b)(6), (©)(2)(A). In this case, Plaintiffs’ assert the following IDEA claims: A)
Failure to Identify, B) Failurc to Evaluate, C) Denial of FAPE, and D) Denial of Procedural

Rights,

3 However, C.D.’s Mother acknowledged that there is “definitely” a difference between “failing” and “failed,” with
“failed” referring to the final, end resuit. (T., Vol. IV at 991)
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3.

Hearings before this Tribunal are de novo proceedings, énd the standard of proof is a
preponderance of the evidence. Ga. Comp. R. & Regs. 1. 616-1-2-21(3), (4). As the parties
bringing this hearing request and secking relief, Plaintiffs bear the burden of proof as to all issues
for resolution. Schaffer v. Weast, 126 S. Ct. 528, 537 (2005).

Child Find
4.

Under IDEA, states must have in place “policies and procedures to ensure that .. . [a]ll
children with disabilities residing in the [s]tate . . . and who are in need of special education and
related services, are identified, located, and evaluated . .. ." 20 U.S.C. § 1412(2)(3)(A). This is
known as the stat.e’s “child find” obligation. M.M. v. Sch. Bd. of Miami-Dade Cnty., 437 F.3d
1085, 1095 n.7 (11" Cir. 2006). Included within the state’s child find obligation arc those
“Ic]hildren who are suspected of being a child with a disability . . . and in need of special
education, even though they are advancing from grade to grade.” 34 C.F.R. § 300.11 1{c)(1).

| 5.

The Act defines a “child with a disability” as a child with one of the listed disabilities
“and who, by reason thereof, needs special education and related services” 20 US.C. §
1401(3)(A)(0), (i) (emphasis added); 34 C.ER. § 300.8(a); Ga. Comp. R. & Regs. 160-4-7-
21(10(a). Some. have construed this eligibility provision as a three-prong test. Specifically,
“[t]o qualify under IDEA, a child must satisfy three criteria: (i) [he] must suffer from one or
more of the categories of impairments delineated in IDEA, (if) [his] imﬁahment must adversely
affect {his] educational perforniance, and (jii) [his] qualified impairment must require special

education and related services.” D.R. ex rel. Courtney R. v. Antelope Valley Union High School
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Dist., 746 F.Supp.2d 1132, 1139 (C.D.C.A. 2010), quoting Capistrano Unified Sch. Dist. v.
Wartenberg, 59 F.3d 884, 899 (9th Cir. 1995); see also Robert A. Garda, Ir., Untangling
Eligibility Requirements Under the Individuals with Disabilities Act, 69 Mo. L. Rev. 441, 458-
459 (2004). Thus, a child with a medical diagnosis matching one of the listed disabilities is not
automatically determined to be eligible for special education services. For exaniple, if a child
has one of the enumerated disabilities, but the child onlty needs a related service, and not special
education, the child is not considered to be a child with a disability under IDEA. 34 C.F.R. §
300.8(a)(2)(i1).
6.

IDEA and its implementing regulations define “special education” as “specially designed
instruction, at no cost to parents, to meet the unique needs of a child with a disability. . . . 20
U.8.C. §1401 (29); see also 34 C.F.R. § 300.39(a)(1). The regulations further define “specially
designed instruction” as “adapting, as appropriate . . . , the content, methodology, or de!ivery of
instruction — (i) [t]o address the unique needs of the child that result from the child’s disability;
and (ii) [t]o ensure access of the child to the general curriculum, so that the child can meet the
educational standards within the jurisdiction of the public agency that apply to all children.”
34 CF.R. § 300.39(b)(3)(i), (if) (emphasis added). Thus, in order to be cbnsidered a child with a
disability the child must require specially designed instruction in order to access or benefit from
the general curriculum and meet the general education performance standards. C.J. v. Indian
River Cnty. Sch. Bd., 41 IDELR 120 (1 1™ Cir. 2004); Katherine S. v. Umbach, No. 00-T-982-E,
2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2523, at *28 (M.D. Ala. Feb. 1, 2002). Indeed, IDEA’s emphasis on the
general education curriculum is evident by the numerous references in the Act and the

implementing regulations. See 20 U.S.C. §§ 1414 (b)2)(A)(ii), (c)(1)(BXiv), (d()(AN) D) (aa),
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(@A), (d)(l)(A)(i)(IV)(bb), @O@B@EAD; (@@AGEHA:
(d)(5)(A)(iii)(11)(cc)(AA), 1415 )(HOID; 34 CFR. §8 300.39(0)(3), 300.116(e), 300.226(2),
300.304.(b)(1)(i'1), 300.305(@)(2)v); 300.311(a)(7)(ii)(A), 300.320@)(DO: 300.320(a)(2)(i)(A),
100.320(a)(4)11) 300.32 1(2)(@) () 300.324(b)(1)(i'1)(A), 300.530(d)(1)s 300.530(d)(4);
300.704(b){4), 300.711(a).
7.
IDEA “guarantecs 2 ‘child with a disability’ as defined under the IDEA a “basic floor” of
" educational opportunity.” Alvin Ind. Sch. Dist. V- AD., 503 B3d 378, 382 (5™ Cir. 2007), citing
Bd. of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, 201 (1982)). The Supreme Court has noted that the “free
appropriate public cducation” that states are required 10 provide must “be gufficient 10 confer
some educational benefit upon the nandicapped child.” JSKv. Hendry Cnty. Sch. Bd., 941 F.2d
1563, 1572, quoting Rowley, 458 U.8. at 200 (emphasis added). IDEA does not, however,
require states sto maximize the potential of each handicapped child.” Rowley, 458 U.S. at 200.
8.
1t is true that the Rowley case addressed the level of services that must be provided to 8
. student who had already been found to be eligible; however at least one appellate court has
decided that it is approptiate to use the benefit standard to determine whether a child is entitled
o special education services. See Hood v. Encinitas Union Sch, Dist., 486 F.3d 1099, 1107 (9m
Cir. 2007). Speciﬁcauy, the court noted:
Just as courts look to the ability of a disabled child to penefit from the services
provided 1o determine if that child is receiving an adequate gpecial cducation, it 18
appropriate for courts o determine if 2 child classified as non-disabled is
receiving adequate accommodations in the general classroom — and thus is not

entitled to special cducation services — using the benefit standatd.

Id. Therefore, students do not “peed” and therefore are not eligible for special education
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services, if they are receiving educational benefit with accommodations in the regular classroom.

Additionally, if a child’s needs can be adequately addressed with Section 504 services, then the

child does not need special education services. Robert A. Garda, Jr., Untangling Eligibility

Requirements Under the Individuals with Disabilities Act, 69 Mo. L. Rev. 441, 499-501 (2004).
9.

In Alvin Ind. Sch. Dist. v. A.D., 503 F.3d 378 (5% Cir. 2007), the cout considered
whether a child (A.D.) with ADHD was entitled to special education services under IDEA. A.D.
developed bebavioral problems when he was in eighth grade, though he passed all of his classes
and met standards on a statewide test. A.D.’s schoo! recommended some informal interventions
(much like an SST team) but failed to implement some of those interventions. Despite having
significant behavioral issues, A.D. passed the eighth grade with one A, three B’s, two C’s, and
one . A.D.’s parents alleged that he should have been identified as a “child with a disability”
under IDEA (specifically under the eligibility category of Other Health Impaired, or OHI, by
virtue of his ADHD) and should have received special education services thereunder. At the
administrative hearing, the ALJ took evidence (including evidence from A.D.’s teachers that he
was doing well socially with teachers and pecrs) and found in favor of A.D. The school district
appealed to district court, which reversed the decision of the ALJ and found in favor of the
school district. A.D. then appealed to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, which affirmed the
district court decision.

10.

The Fifth Circuit specifically noted that IDEA “guarantees a ‘child with a disability’ as

defined under the IDEA a “basic floor> of educational opportunity.” Afvin Ind. Sch. Dist,, 503

£.3d 378 at 382 (citing Bd. of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.8. 176, 201 (1982)). Further, a FAPE does
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not require a school district “to maximize the potential of each handicapped child.” Id. at 200.
11.

The Fifth Circuit went on to note that “only certain students with disabilities...are
eligible for IDEA’s benefits.” Alvin Ind. Sch. Dist., 503 F.3d at 382. As stated earlier, in order
to qualify for services under IDEA, a student must both “(1) have a qualifying disability [such as
OHI] and (2) “by reason thereof, need} special education and related services.” 20 Us.C. §
1401(3)(A). Accordingly, the existence of a diagnosis does not necessarily entitle a student to
[DEA scivices. Rather, 2 student must reqz;ire special cducation and related services by reason
of that disability. 20 Us.C. §v1401(3)(A)(ii).

12.

The Fifth Circuit next determined that A.D. was not entitled to special education services
under IDEA. Specifically, the court noted that, although A.D. did suffer an “adverse effect” on
his educational performance through his ADHD, such an “adverse effect” only satisfied the first
prong of IDEA’s eligibility standard and that “the fact that [his} ADHD adversely affected his
educational performance “does not necessarily mean that he is eligible for special education
services under IDEA.”Y The Fifth Circuit went on to state that “A.D.’s passing grades and his
success on the [statewide] test demonsirate academic progress” and further noted that “the
achievement of passing marks and advancement from grade to grade [is} one important factor in
determining educational benefit.” Id. at 384 (quoting Rowley, 458 U.S. at 207 n.28).

i3. |

Similarly, in Hood v. Encinitas Union Sch. Dist., 486 F.3d 1099 (9lh Cir. 2007), the Ninth

-

3 mportantly, the standard for eligibility under Other Health Impairment (“OHI”) as articulated in IDEA {and as
explained in Alvin Ind. Sch. Dist. v. A.D.)1s identical to the standard in Georgia. See 34 C.ER. § 300.8(c)®) DOE
Rule 160-4-7-.05, Appendix G. Georgia also makes clear that its State rules regarding special education make clear
that “it is not the intention of these Rules to change or expand the rights or responsibilities provided under any
Federal law or regulation.” DOE Rule 160-4-7-.01(4). Accordingly, the Fifth Circuit's reasoning in Alvin Ind. Sch.
Dist. is persuasive.
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Circuit Court of Appeals held that a child who received educational benefit in a regular
¢lassroom was not eligible for special education services under JDEA. In Hood, a student’s
parents enrolled her in a private school and demanded reimbursement from the school district,
alleging a failure t0 identify her as a “clﬁid with a disability” under the eligibility category of
OHI, within the meaning of IDEA. The student, Anna, showed high intellectual ability on
cognitive measures. However, she had difficulty tumning in homework on time and keeping her
belongings organized. Accordingly, the school district implemented a Section 504‘ plan to
accommodate her in the regular classroom. Anna’s family provided a written request for an
evaluation under IDEA, but the school district determined that she was not eligible bécause she
was “performing at least in the average range academically.” Hood, 486 ¥.3d at 1102. The
school district asserted that Anna’s Section 504 plan was the appropriate way 10 meet her needs.
| 14.

The Ninth Cirouit affirmed a lower couit decision and agreed with the school district. 1d.
at 1107. The court went on 10 affirm the ALY’s determination that the school district was under
no obligation to provide special education, because the student’s needs could be met with
accommodations in the regular education environment, The court also noted that the school
district’s position — identical to the position i thé jnstant matter — was «consistent with the
concept of mainstreaming, an objective that the schoot district is legally bound to pursue.” Id. at
1110;20US.C. § 1412(a)(5).

15.

District courts have reached similar conclusions. For instance, in Katherine S. v.

Umbach, No. 00-T-982-E, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2523, at *1 (M.D. Ala. Feb. 1, 2002), a

student sued a school district for reimbursement for private school tuition under IDEA, alleging
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that the school district Vhad failed to identify the .student, Katherine S., as a “child with a
disability” within the meaning of IDEA and further failed to provide her required special
education services. Although Katherine S. did well academically through the seventh grade, her
grades dropped precipitously in eighth grade. Id. at *4. In the first semester of ninth grade, her
grades fell even further, and she earned four As, three Cs, and one D. Id. at *¥4-5. Her
achievement scores, which showed superior cognitive ability, showed that she was performing
well below her ability. 7d. at *4. Despite these poor grades, her teachers reported her to be a
social young woman who actively participated in extracurricular activities and got along well
with her teachers and her peers. Id. at *5-6. Near the end of her ninth grade year, Katherine S.
was raped at school and did not return. JId. at #6-7. For tenth grade onward, her parents enrolled
her in private school. /d. at *11L.
16.

The district court agreed with the adminjstrative hearing officer and determined that
Katherine S. was not a “child with a disability” within the meaning of IDEA. The court noted
that Katherine S. “was accessing, and achieving benefit in, the general education cutriculum . . ..
She attended school regularly, had fiiends, and participated in extracurricular activities.”
 Katherine S., 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS, at #9879 The court held that there was no evidence to
suggest that she required specially designed instruction in order to access and benefit from the
general curriculum.” Id. at ¥29. Given Katherine S.’s academic performance, the fact that she
had friends, and her participation in extracurricular activities, the coust determined that she was
not entitled to special education services under TDEA and denied her parents’ claims for relief.

Id. at #28-29.
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17.

Similarly, in Austin Ind. Sch. Dist. v. Robert M., 168 F. Supp. 2d 635 (W.D. Tex. 2001), a
district court rejected a student’s claim that he was entitled to special education services. In
Robert M., a student with attention deficit disorder (ADD) sought admission to a publicly-run
and academically demanding magnet school within his school district. 168 F. Supp. 2d at 637.
Robert M.’s mother informed the school of his diagnosis of ADD and that it had “adversely
affected his grades.” Id. The school granted him admission on the condition that he maintains a
B average. Id. Unfortunately, Robert M. failed to regularly do his h_omework assignments, and
his grades suffered as a result. Id. Although he failed to maintain a B average, the school
allowed him to remain enrolled under renewable six-week contracts. Id. Robert continued to
fail to do his homework and continued to get poor grades. Nevertheless, the school offered to
put in place accommodations for him. It never had the opportunity to do so because Robert M.’s
mother withdrew him and then filed suit under IDEA. Id. at 637-6338.

18.

The court determined that Robert M. was not entitled to any special education services
under IDEA, despite his diagnosis of ADD, and despite the adverse effect on his educational
performance and grades. Id. at 639. The court stated that, even if Robert met the criteria for
eligibility under OHI, he was still not a “child with a disability” under IDEA and accordingly not
entitled to any special education services because he did not require special education services to
benefit from his education. Id. The court noted that Robert needed “to commit to doing
homework and regularly attending classes,” rather than receive special education services. fd.
The court further noted that, if the pressures of the magnet school were too much for him, his

parent should have sent him to his home school. 7d. at 639. Importantly, the court stated that
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“fi]t would be a rare case indeed where a student who affirmatively chose to attend a magnet
school for gifted students would be eligible for special education. The answer in most situations
like this is to put the child in his home school before making special education available to the
child.” Id. at 639-40,

19.

Indeed, the court noted that “[s]chools are not required to force or motivate students to
take advantage of the education they offer . . . . Schools are also not required to spoon-feed
students or to maximize their potential. They simply must offer a program that is reasonably
calculated to confer an educational benefit upon the student.” Id. at 640.* In citing this
decision, the United States District Court for the District of Oregon, used the following
parenthetical to summarize a portion of the decision in Robert M., which is as follows: “(schools
are not required to force or motivate students to take advantage of the education they offer — this
is the parents’ role).” Ashland School District v. R.J., 585 F. Supp. 2d 1208, 1232 (D. OR.
2008). |

20.

Similarly, in Clay T. v. Walton County Sch. Dist., 952 F, Supp. 817 (M.D. Ga. 1997), a
district court determined that a child diagnosed with attention deficit disorder {ADD) and a
learning disability was not eligible under IDEA. Clay T. was (much like C.D.} a bright child
whose grades suffered due to inconsistency and problems completing homework. 952 F. Supp.
at 821. After failing every subject except P.E. and Art his parents met with the principal, the

assistant principal, the counselor, and Clay T.’s fourth grade teacher. Id. at 820. The school

*® The court noted further that “failing classes is not, by itself, sufficient evidence that an educational benefit is not
being conferred upon the student. For example, if a student demonstrates an adequate grasp of the material on a test,
but fails the class due to failure to perform any of the assigniments, one would be hard-pressed to say that the failure
to turn in assignments evidences a lack of educational benefit,” Robert M., 168 F. Supp. 2d. at 640 n.6.
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suggested that the parents take a “hands off” approach. Id. The parents agreed to try the
approach and despite a subsequent improvement in Clay T.’s grades, they placed him in a private
school. /d. Although he still displayed signs of inconsistency doing his homework at the private
school, his grades improved and were generally satisfactory. Id. at 820-21. Clay T.’s parents
then sought reimbursement for the costs associated with private school, as well as continued
placement in the private school until he finished his twelfth grade year. Id. at 821.

21.

The district court determined that the school district in question had committed no error.
Specifically, the court noted that the school district relied on private information provided by the
parents in determining its educational programming for the child. The court went on to note that
Clay T.’s “poor marks resulted not from an inability to comprehend or understand classroom
material, but rather from his failure or refusal to turn in his assignments.” Id. at 823. The count
found that there was a rational justification for the teachers not to recommend an IDEA
evaluation. Accordingly, the court held that there was no Child Find violation. Id.

22.

In fact, the overwhelming weight of authority from a variety of courts around the country
r(including the Eleventh Circuit Cowrt of Appeals and courts within its jurisdiction) shows that
students who receive educational benefit in a regular education setting, with or without
accommodations (whether or not they have a diagnosed disability, whether or not they fulfill
eligibility criteria for one or more categories of eligibility, and whether or not they maximize
their academic and/or educational potential) are not eligible for services under IDEA. This is so
even when these students sometimes fail classes. Rather, so long as they are able to receive

educational benefit in the regular education environment and without IDEA services, they are not
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eligible for those IDEA services. See, e.g., C.J. v. Indian River County Sch. Bd., 41 IDELR 120
(11™ Cir. 2004) (student with bipolar disorder and oppositional defiant disorder ineligible for
IDEA services, given her strong academic record and successful progression from grade to
grade); Norton v. Orinda Union Sch. Dist., 168 F.3d 500 (9 Cir. 1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S.
825 (1999) (student who met eligibility criteria for “learning disabled” was ineligible for special
education and related services because of her success in the regular classroom with
accommodations); St. Joseph-Ogden Community High School Dist. No. 305 v. Janet W., 2008
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3574 (C.D. Ill. 2008) (child with history of depression and suicide atterapts not
eligible for services under IDEA, as he passed his classes, albeit with grades that were not
reflective of his full potential, and thus had received “educational benefit” without the need for
IDEA services); M.P. v. North East. Ind. Sch. Dist., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 87239, * (W.D. Tex.
2007) (despite the fact that he had failed his sixth and seventh grade years and failed a statewide
assessment, child with ADHD was not eligible for IDEA because he did not require special
education services to receive educational benefit); R.B. v. Napa Valiley Unified Sch. Dist., 43
IDELR 188 (NLD. Cal. 2005), aff’d 496 F.3d 932 (9" Cir. 2007) (despite poor grades and
problematic behavior, child with ADHD, post-traumatic stress disorder, intermittent explosive
disorder, and depression was not an eligible student under IDEA, as student was able to receive
educational benefit with a Section 504 plan); Hoffinan v. East Troy Community Sch. Dist., 38 F.
Supp. 2d 750 (E.D. Wis. 1999) (child with high intelligence and behavior problems who passed
all bﬁt one class was not entitled to IDEA eligibility or reimbursement for private school costs,
as he received “educational benefit” from his classes as required by IDEA, even though his
performance was “certaihiy not reflective of his full potential™); Doe v. Bd. of Ed. of the State of

Connecticut, 753 F. Supp. 65 (D.C. Conn. 1990) (child with behavior disorder was not eligible
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under IDEA, because his academic performance was satisfactory); Riverside Unified Sch. Dist.,

49 IDELR 83 (Califomia SEA 2007) (student with autism not eligible under IDEA because he

could receive educational benefit in the regular education environment); McMullen County Ind.

Sch. Dist., 49 IDELR 118 (Texas SEA 2007) (despite several low, and one failing, grade, child

with ADD and emotional issues was not eligible under IDEA because he did not require special

education to receive educational benefit and because of existence of Section 504 plan for child).
23,

Here, there is no real dispute that C.D. has a diagnosis of ADHD, a qualifying disability
under the eligibilityl category of OHI. DOE Rule 160-4-7-.05, Appendix G. However, the
existence of such a qualifying disability is insufficient to establish eligibility under IDEA.
Rather, in order to be eligible for IDEA services, C.D. must “need[] special education and related
services” in order to access or benefit from the general curriculum. 20 U.S.C. § 1401(3)(A);
DOE Rule 160-4-7-.05(1) (a child is a child with a disability within the meaning of IDEA if he
“meets the eligibility criteria” in one or more eligibility category f‘and needs special education
and related services”) (emphasis added); 34 C.F.R. § 300.3Kb)(3)(i), (ii); C.J. v. Indian River
Cnty. Sch. Bd., 41 IDELR 120 (11th Cir. 2004); Katherine S. v. Umbach, No. 00-T-982-E, 2002
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2523, at *28 (M.D. Ala. Feb. 1, 2002). C.D. was not enrolled in the general
curriculum. Rather, he was enrolled in a very rigorous magnet program, which by all accounts,
requires a tremendous amount of effort, Nonetheless, the evidence shows that C.D. received
educational benefit and learned the educational standards that apply to alt children. Additionally,
he had no problems with social skills, behavior, or communication.

24.

Specifically, during the course of his enrollment in the Magnet program, he passed each
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and every one of his classes until his senior year. In this program, from 9" grade through 11™
grade, C.D. was enrolled in multiple Honor’s level classes, Magnet classes, and AP level
courses. Impressively, C.D. demonstrated his knowledge by his mastery of the Georgia
Performance Standards in achieving the following scores/grades on his EOCT’s in the following
subjects: 9™ grade Literature, 94; American Literature, 94; Mathematics, 94; Biology, 93, U.S.
History, 93; and Economics, 95.% C.D. also earned scores on AP exams which would merit
college credit. Furthermore, he earned top marks on the SAT and ACT. In addition to superior
academics, C.D. demonstrated leadership in classes and in extracurricular activities, like roboti(.:s
club, Indeed, C.D. had made so much progress that, by December 2013, he was wait-listed at
MIT.
25,

All standardized and statewide testi11g, likewise, shows excellent academic achievement
and performance. Indeed, while in tﬁe Magnet program, C.D.’s PSAT scores reflect that,
nationwide, he ranked higher than 87% of other sophomores in Critical Reading, 98% of other
sophomores in Mathematics, and 90% of other college-bound seniors in Writing Skills. When
C.D. took his SAT in December of his senior year, his scores reflect that, nationwide, he ranked
higher than 95% of other college-bound seniors in Reading, 98% of other college-bound seniors
in Mathematics, and 94% of other sophomores in Writing Skills. These SAT scores during
senior year are consistent with C.D.’s PSAT scores sophomore year. When C.D. took the ACT
in December 2012, his scores reflect that, with respect to “college readiness” for students who
“will likely be ready for first-year college courses,” he was at or above the requirements in all

courses, including English, Mathematics, Reading, and Science.

" As noted above, EOCTs measure the student’s mastery of the Georgia Performance Standards (i.e., the general
education curriculum).

Page 82 of 89




26.

In addition, each and every one of C.D.’s teachers who had any knowledge of him agreed

that C.D. was learning in his classes and benefitting from his education.
27.

C.D. was also involved in extracutricular activities while at High School. He
was a member of the school’s Robotics Club, Philosophy Club and Leadership Club. He even
was involved in a summer science camp where he and Mr. George provided instruction to
elementary school students.

28.

Indeed, he was doing well socially by virtually all accounts. His teachers noted that he
was social, had friends, was well-liked by students and adults alike, and got along well with
others. There was no evidence presented to the contrary. Nor was there any evidence that C.D.
had any behavioral problems or problems with communication, In fact, his teachers testified to
the contrary. |

29,

IDEA does not guarantee that a student will excel or even pass his classes.in a rigorous
magnet program. See Rowley, 458 U.S. at 200 (IDEA does not require states “to maximize the
potential of each handicapped child”); see also Austin Ind. Sch. Dist. v. Robert M., 168 F. Supp.
2d 635, 639-40 (W.D. Tex. 2001)( “It would be a rare case indeed where a student who
affirmatively chose to attend a magnet school for gifted students would be eligible for special
education. The answer in most situations like this is to put the child in his home school before

making special education available to the child”). Rather, IDEA guarantees students with a

—_
* The undersigned recognizes that there are situations in which a child with high cognition could be entitled to
special educations services. For example, in the case of a child with Asperger’s Syndrome or Autism Spectrum
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disability access to and some benefit from the general curriculum. See Alvin Ind. Sc?h. Dist, v.
A.D., 503 F.3d 378, 382 (5™ Cir. 2007), citing Bd. of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, 201 (1982))
(IDEA “guarantees a ‘child with a disability’ as defined under the IDEA a ‘basic floor’ of
educational opportunity™); JSK v. Hendry Cnty. Sch. Bd., 941 F.2d 1563, 1572, quoting Rowley,
458 U.S. at 200 (emphasis added)( the “free appropriate public education” that states are required
to provide must “be sufficient to confer some educational benefit upon the handicapped child”).
Here, C.D. obtained such benefit, and therefore did not need special education to access the
general curriculum.
30.

Furthermore, as is Clay T., there is no indication that C.I).’s lower grades resulted from
an “inability to comprehend or understand the material.” Jd. at 823. Rather, the credible
evidence indicates that C.D.’s lower grades, for the most part, resulted from apathy or a
conscious decision not to do certain assignments. See id.

The School District did not Violate its Child Find Duties to HKdentify and Evaluate C.D.
Before the End of His Senior Year

31.
As noted supra, school districts are under a duty to identify, locate, and evaluate children
who are suspected of being a child with a disability and who are in need of special education

services. 20 U.S.C. § 1412(a)(3)(A); 34 C.F.R. § 300.111(c)(1).

Disorder who has problems with social skills or classroom behavior, special education and related services may be
required to address those deficits. See Lefter to Addressee, 112 LRP 52261 (OSEP 2012). However, that is not the
situation presented here. Further, the undersigned is aware of other references in advisory letters from the Office of
Special Education Programs, implying that students with high cognition and ADHD could be found eligible for
special education services to address a lack of organizational skills and homework completion. See Office of
Special Education Programs, Leffer to Anonymous, http://www2.ed.govipolicy/speced/guidiidealetters/2010-
I/redacteda0l1310evallq2010.pdf (last visited December 4, 2013). However, the letter to which OSEP was
1esponding apparently indicated that such student or students had struggles to timely complete “grade-level work.”
There is no indication that the students, to whom QSEP was generically referring, were in a rigorous magnet school
program. Further, this tribunal knows of no case law supporting the proposition that a student who voluntarily
enrolls in a rigorous magnet school is entitled to special education services so that he may achieve specific grades or
maintain a magnet seal, which is what the Plaintiffs seek.
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32.

To establish a violation of the school district’s “child find® duties, “[P]laintiff[s] must
show that the school officials overlooked clear signs of disability and were negligent in failing to
order testing, or that there was no rational Justification for not deciding to evaluate.” Clay T v,
Walton Cnty. Sch. Dist., 952 F. Supp. 817, 823 (M.D. Ga. 1997); see also Bd. of Educ. of Fayette
Cnty. v. LM., 478 F.3d 307, 313 (6™ Cir. 2007) (adopting the standard articulated in Clay T) |

33.

As several courts have recognized, however, Child Find does not demand that schools
conduct a formal evaluation of every struggling student. See, e.g., J.S. v. Scarsdale Union Free
Sch. Dist., 826 F. Supp. 2d 635, 661 (S.D.N.Y. 201 1} (“The IDEA's Child Find provisions do not
require district cowrts to evaluate as potentially “disabled’ any child who is having acédemic
difficulties.”). Further, a school's failure to diagnose a disability at the carliest possible moment
is not per se actionable, in part because some disabilities “are notoriously difficult to diagnose
and even experts disagree about whether [some] should be considered a disability at all.” A4.P. ex
rel. Powers v. Woodstock Bd. of Edue., 572 F. Supp. 2d 221, 226 (D. Conn. 2008).

34,

With respect to Child Find, IDEA does not penalize school districts for not timely
evaluating students who do not need special education. D.G. v. Flour Bluff Independent School
Dist., 481 Fed. Appx. 887, 893 (5™ Cir. 2012); citing 20 U.S.C. §§ 1401(3)(A), 1412(a)(3)(A)
(Child Find); Forest Grove Sch. Dist. v. TA., 557 U.S. 230, 245, 129 S.Ct. 2484, 174 L.Ed.2d
168 (2009) (noting Child Find requires States to identify and evaluate children with disabilities
“to ensure that they receive needed special-education services™). Thus, it is clear that if a court

determines that a child does not need special education during the period of time the parents
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céntend their child should have been identified via Child Find, there can be no Child Find
violation, D.G. v. Flour Bluff Independent School Dist., 481 Fed. Appx. 887, 893 (5™ Cir. 2012).
In addition, steps that a school district takes toward offering a student substantial
accommodations en route to later identifying a student make it difficult for courts to find that a
school diétl‘ict violated Child Find. D.X v. Abington Sch. Dist., 696 F.3d 233, 252 (3rd Cir.
2012).

35.

Here, Plaintiffs failed to establish that the District overlooked clear signs of a disability or
that there was no rational justification for not deciding to evaluate. Admittedly, the District and
C.D.’s teachers were aware that C.D. had a diagnosis of ADHD and that he was being serviced
by a 504 plan, However, as noted above, a diagnosis does not automatically mean that the child
is a “child with a disability” for purposes of IDEA eligibility.

36.

In this case, C.D. often told his teachers that he would get his homework or his
assigniments in “tomorrow,” and because C.D. had done so in the past, his teachers believed that
he would do so during his senior year. In fact, in corresponding with C.D.’s teachers, his parents
often indicated that C.D. would be submitting the missing assignments within a few days.

37.

During his junior year, one of his teachers received an email from C.D.’s mother that was
intended for C.D. In the email, C.D.’s mother told C.D. he needed to take his class “a bit more
seriously and stop blowing off [his] responsibilities.”

38.

After he failed to turn in many assignments for his Internship and Research classes, C.D.
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told Dr. Adams that he did not take the class seriously. He further wrote her an email indicating

that his failure to complete the assignments was due to his lack of effort. Similarly, in a 504

meeting, C.D. admitted that he was behind due to his own procrastination.® He did not say that

he was overwhelmed or that he could not do the work. During that same meeting, Mr. D. stated

that C.D. would tell him and his wife that he did not have any homework, when, in fact, he did.**
39,

Furthermore, C.D.’s scores on the EQCTs indicated that he was learning the Georgia
Performance Standards. C.D. was not merely advancing from grade to grade; in many respects
he was excelling. There was no indication that C.D. had any behavioral problems, or any
problems with social skills or communication.

40,

The curriculum in the Magnet School is extremely rigorous. The evidence

indicated that other students do fail to submit assignments and do fail some of the courses.
41.

Throughout C.D.’s time at » MIr. George, C.12.’s engineering teacher, saw C.D.
as an intelligent student, who was “better than most,” and capable of independently soldering
without incident,

42,

With knowledge of these facts, and in light of the testimony of Plaintiffs’® expetrts

regarding the hidden nature of executive functioning disorder, C.D.’s teachers had reasonable

grounds to believe that C.D.’s failure to turn in assignments was due to his lack of effort and not

* C.D.’s own admissions and the observations of his teachers support an inference that C.D. simply did not put forth
EI;Ie effort in his senior year that he had put forth in previous years.

Notably, Mr. D did not say that C.D. could not recall whether he had homework, Rather, C.D. affirmatively told
his parents that he did not have homework.
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due to his disability. Thus, they did not ignore clear signs of a disability, or at a minimum, they
had a very rational basis for not entertaining an evaluation for special education services,
The District Did Not Deny C.D. a FAPE
43,

As noted above, the evidence is insufficient to support a finding that the District should
have found C.D. to be eligible for IDEA services prior to the end of his senior year.® Because
C.D. was not a “child with a disability” for purposes of IDEA eligibility, the District was under
no obligation to provide IDEA services to C.D. See Alvin Indep. Sch. Dist. v. A.D., No. G-05-
678, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 75016, at *17 (S.D. Tex. Oct. 6, 2006). Accordingly, it follows that
the District was not required to provide C.D. with a FAPE pursuant to IDEA. Notwithstanding,
the evidence shows that the District did, in fact, provide C.D. with a FAPE, as indicated by the
educational benefit he received.

The District Did Not Deny Plaintiffs Their Procedural Rights
| 44,

Plaintiffs assert that the District failed to timely provide them with their procedural rights
under IDEA, More specifically, Plaintiffs contend that they were entitled to receive a copy of
their IDEA rights for years.” The duty to provide these rights to families whose students are not

yet eligible for IDEA services, however, is only triggered when a family requests a copy of the

¥ The fact that the District ultimately found C.D. efigible in September 2013, after the end of his senior year does
not change the analysis here. C.D.’s performance during his senior year, and, more specifically, during the fast
semester of his senior year was vastly different than his performance in grades 9 through I1. Furthermore, Plaintiffs
did not request an IDEA evaluation until May 2, 2013. Plaintiffs obtained an independent evaluation from Dr.
Deckelbaum in April 2013, but did not provide the District with a copy of the report until the September 3, 2013
eligibitity meeting, As the District’s eligibility determination occurred in September of 2013, after Plaintiffs filed
their Complaint, the propriety of that determination is outside the scope of this hearing. See 20 US.C. §
}6415(ﬂ(3)(B ) 34 CFR. § 300.511(d).

Plaintiffs assert that they requested an IDEA evaluation prior to high school. However, the Memorandum
Opinion and Order on Statute of Limitations issued on September 9, 2013, limited Plaintiffs’ claims to those
alleging violations that occurred within the two years preceding their complaint. Thus, the only time Plaintiffs
requested an evaluation within the statute of limitations was at the end of the 2012-2013 school., At that time,
Plaintiffs were given a copy of their procedural rights.
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rights, a family requests an evaluation, or a child is referred to special education via an initial
referral. 34 C.F.R. 300.504(a)(1), (4). Here, and as described above, C.DD. was not a child with a
suspected disability at any point prior to the end of his senior vear. When Plaintiffs requested an
e\;aluation at the end of the 2012-2013 school yea-r, they were given a copy of their procedural
rights. Further, there is no evidence that Plaintiffs requested a copy of the procedural safeguards
at any other time. Thus, there can be no violation of the duty to provide procedural safeguards
under IDEA.
45,

Plaintiffs failed to establish that the District committed a procedural violation of IDEA by
failing to provide them with their procedural safeguards. Moreover, any alleged procedural
violations are not actionable as C.D, was not found to be an eligible student under IDEA until
September 201347 Accordingly, any procedural violation is harmless if a child is not otherwise
eligible for IDEA’s benefits. Because C.D. was not a “child with a disability” within the
meaning of IDEA, Plaintiffs are not entitled to any relief,

VY. ORDER

Based on the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, Plaintiffs’ requests for

relief are DENIED.

SO ORDERED, this 5™ day of December, 2013,

STEPHANIE M. HOWELLS
Administrative Law Judge

* Specifically, “a procedural violation cannot qualify an otherwise ineligible student for IDEA relief.” R.B.v. Napa
Valley Sch. Dist., 496 F.3d 932, 942 (9™ Cir. 2007).
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